From the DEPARTMENT OF ONCOLOGY-PATHOLOGY

Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

ADJUVANT TAMOXIFEN AND LUTEINIZING HORMONE-RELEASING HORMONE AGONISTS IN PREMENOPAUSAL BREAST CANCER

On long-term benefits and side effects in a randomised study

Ásgerður Sverrisdóttir



Stockholm 2012

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher.

Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by Larserics Digital Print AB © Ásgerður Sverrisdóttir, 2012

ISBN 978-91-7457-873-7

Life can only be understood backwards; but it must be lived forwards Søren Kierkegaard

ABSTRACT

Adjuvant endocrine therapy improves breast cancer survival, unconditional of other treatment. In premenopausal breast cancer, tamoxifen for 5 years is the standard treatment, with or without the addition of ovarian ablative therapy. The optimal timing and duration of ovarian ablative treatment is not yet defined, and it is not clear if there is additional benefit from ovarian suppression in combination with cytotoxic chemotherapy. With improving survival and excellent prognosis, there is increasing need for prevention of long-term adverse effects, monitoring and treatment when appropriate. Premature ovarian failure is frequent from adjuvant treatment of young breast cancer patients with a following risk of accelerated bone loss and infertility. The possible ovarian protective effect of ovarian ablation from luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone (LHRH) agonists is debated.

Aims: The purpose of our study is to examine the efficacy of the LHRH agonist goserelin for adjuvant therapy of premenopausal breast cancer, the role of interaction between goserelin and tamoxifen and the impact of estrogen receptor (ER) content. We also examine long-term side effects in regard to ovarian function and bone health. Patients and methods: The study was designed to determine whether the addition of the LHRH agonist goserelin and/or tamoxifen to adjuvant therapy provided benefit for premenopausal women with breast cancer. Patients were entered into a 2 x 2 factorial randomisation to tamoxifen 40 mg daily with or without concomitant goserelin, 3.6 mg every 28 days or goserelin alone for 2 years. Efficacy was analysed as well as the effects on ovarian function, bone mineral density and bone markers.

A total of 927 women were recruited to the Stockholm part of the ZIPP trial. At a median follow-up of 12.3 years, goserelin reduced the risk of first event by 32% (P = 0.005) in the absence of tamoxifen, and tamoxifen reduced the risk by 27% (P = 0.018)

in the absence of goserelin. The combined goserelin and tamoxifen treatment reduced the risk by 24% (P = 0.021) compared with no endocrine treatment. In highly ERpositive tumours, there were 29% fewer events among goserelin-treated patients (P =0.044) and a trend towards greater risk reduction, depending on the level of ER content. The greatest risk reduction from goserelin treatment was observed among those not receiving tamoxifen (HR: 0.52, P = 0.007). In the study of ovarian function, 36% of the women in the goserelin group reported menses one year after completed CMF- and endocrine therapy, compared to 7% in the goserelin plus tamoxifen group, 13% in the tamoxifen group and 10% of the controls. Among women treated with goserelin, there was a statistically significant increase in the proportion of menstruating women one year after completed treatment, compared to at 24 months of treatment (P = 0.006), in contrast to all other treatment groups, who were unchanged or more often amenorrheic. The bone mineral study showed that after 2 years of treatment, there was a significant decline in bone mineral density (mean change, -5%; P < 0.001) in the women receiving goserelin. The combined goserelin and tamoxifen treatment, as well as tamoxifen alone, resulted in a lesser, but statistically significant, decrease in bone mineral density (mean change, -1.4%; P = 0.02; and -1.5%; P < 0.001). One year after cessation of treatment, the goserelin group alone showed partial recovery from bone loss (mean change, 1.5%; P = 0.02). In the study of bone turnover markers (BTM), there was a significant rise in Osteocalcin (RR: 1.57, p < 0.001), PINP (RR 1.65, p < 0.001) and CTX (RR 1.98, p < 0.001) among goserelin-treated patients. There were no significant changes in BTM among those treated with either goserelin and tamoxifen or tamoxifen alone. Among patients where bone mineral density measurements were available, change in BMD was inversely associated with change in BTM (r = -0.40 to -0.51). Conclusions: Adjuvant tamoxifen in combination with the LHRH agonist goserelin is

not superior to either tamoxifen alone or goserelin alone in regard to recurrence-free

survival in premenopausal endocrine responsive breast cancer. A significant interaction indicates that the effect of goserelin depends on whether tamoxifen is given or not, and the effect of tamoxifen depends on whether goserelin is given or not. In this study there is a trend towards greater efficacy of goserelin with increasing ER levels. A subgroup of women with strongly ER-positive tumours benefits more from goserelin treatment, whereas the benefit of tamoxifen does not seem to be dependent on ER content. This study shows some evidence of a protective effect of goserelin on ovarian function in CMF treated women. This effect was not observed where tamoxifen was given in addition to goserelin treatment. Further studies are needed to confirm this. Two years of ovarian ablation from goserelin treatment induces a significant reduction in bone mineral density, but there is partial recovery from the bone loss one year after stopped treatment. After six months of goserelin treatment, markers of both bone resorption and bone formation increase, whereas there is no change in bone turnover from tamoxifen alone or in combination with goserelin. Furthermore, there an inverse correlation of changes in BMD and bone markers. The addition of tamoxifen seems to counteract the effects of goserelin on BMD and BTM. In addition to BMD measurements, biochemical examinations of bone turnover markers may be useful for monitoring bone health, identifying women at risk for bone loss and making early interventions possible.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- I. Interaction between goserelin and tamoxifen in a prospective randomised clinical trial of adjuvant endocrine therapy in premenopausal breast cancer Asgerdur Sverrisdottir, Hemming Johansson, Ulla Johansson, Jonas Bergh, Samuel Rotstein, LarsErik Rutqvist and Tommy Fornander Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2011, 128 (3): 755-63
- II. Adjuvant goserelin and ovarian preservation in chemotherapy treated patients with early breast cancer: results from a randomized trial Asgerdur Sverrisdottir, Marianne Nystedt, Hemming Johansson and Tommy Fornander Breast Cancer Research and Treatment 2009, 117 (3): 561-7
- III. Bone Mineral Density Among Premenopausal Women With Early Breast Cancer in a Randomized Trial of Adjuvant Endocrine Therapy Asgerdur Sverrisdottir, Tommy Fornander, Hans Jacobsson, Eva von Schoultz and LarsErik Rutqvist Journal of Clinical Oncology 2004, 22 (18): 3694-9
- IV. Bone turnover in goserelin and tamoxifen treated premenopausal breast cancer patients in a randomised adjuvant trial
 Asgerdur Sverrisdottir, Janusz Gross, Hemming Johansson, Hans Jacobsson, Thomas Gustafsson, Samuel Rotstein and Tommy Fornander
 Manuscript

CONTENTS

- 1. Introduction
 - 1.1 Adjuvant breast cancer treatment
 - 1.2 Steroid hormone receptors
 - 1.2.1 Methods of ER assessment
 - 1.2.2 Ligand-binding assay
 - 1.2.3 Immunohistochemical assessment
 - 1.3 Adjuvant endocrine therapy
 - 1.3.1 Tamoxifen
 - 1.3.1.1 Duration and dosage of tamoxifen
 - 1.3.1.2 Efficacy of tamoxifen
 - 1.3.2 Aromatase inhibitors
 - 1.3.3 Ovarian suppression
 - 1.3.3.1 LHRH agonists
 - 1.3.4 Long-term side effects of adjuvant endocrine treatment
 - 1.3.4.1 Side effects of tamoxifen
 - 1.3.4.2 Therapy induced ovarian failure
 - 1.3.4.3 Protective effect of LHRH agonists on the ovaries
 - 1.3.4.4 Bone mineral density
 - 1.3.4.5 Bone turnover markers
- 2 Aims of the study
- 3 Patients and methods

3.1 Patient cohort in studies I-IV

- 3.1.1 The Zoladex In Premenopausal Patients (ZIPP) trial
- 3.1.2 The Stockholm cohort of the ZIPP trial (Papers I-IV)
- 3.1.3 Paper I

3.1.3.1 Efficacy

3.1.3.2 Hormone receptor content

3.2 Patient cohort in studies II-IV

3.3 Paper II

3.3.1 Instrument

3.4 Papers III-IV

3.4.1	Bone mineral density study (Paper III)
3.4.2	Bone densitometry (Papers III-IV)
3.4.3	Bone marker assays (Paper IV)

4 Results

4.1 Paper I

4.2 Paper II

- 4.2.1 Women treated with CMF chemotherapy
- 4.2.2 Women not treated with CMF chemotherapy
- 4.3 Paper III

4.4 Paper IV

- 5 Discussion
 - 5.1 Paper I
 - 5.2 Paper II
 - 5.3 Papers III-IV
- 6 Conclusions
- 7 Future aspects
- 8 Acknowledgements
- 9 References
- 10 Original articles

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ABCSG	Austrian Breast Cancer Study Group
AC	Doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide
ACD	Doxorubicin, cyclophosphamide and docetaxel
ACT	Doxorubicin, cyclophosphamide and paclitaxel
AC+TD	Doxorubicin, cyclophosphamide and paclitaxel or docetaxel
AI	Aromatase inhibitor
ALP	Alkaline phosphatase
AMH	Anti-Müllerian hormone
ASCO	American Society of Clinical Oncology
BIG	Breast International Group
BMD	Bone mineral density
BSP	Bone sialoprotein
BTM	Bone turnover marker
C	Control
CMF	Cyclophosphamide, methotrexate and fluorouracil
CTX	C-terminal telopeptide
CYP2-D6	Cytochrome P450 2D6 enzyme
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EBCTCG	Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group
ER	Estrogen receptor
FAC	5-fluorouracil. doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide
FACT	Fulvestrant in Advanced Breast Cancer
FEC	5-fluorouracil, epirubicine and cyclophosphamide
Fmol	Femtomole
FSH	Follicle stimulating hormone
G	Goserelin
GT	Goserelin plus tamoxifen
Gy	Grav
HER-2	Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
IFCC	International Federation of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory
	Medicine
IHC	Immunohistochemical assessment
IOF	International Osteonorosis Foundation
Ki-67	Antigen Ki-67
LBA	Ligand-binding assay
LH	Leutinizing hormone
LHRH	Luteinizing hormone_releasing hormone
mTOR	Akt_mammalian target of rapamycin
OC	Act-manimanan target of rapanyem
OPG	Osteoprotogorin
OS	Overian suppression
PINP	Ovarian suppression
PI3K	Phoenbatidylinositel 3 kingso
pN	Photophanu ymnoshor 5-kmase
PT	Patnological nodal status

Premature ovarian failure
Progesterone receptor
Pathological tumor size
Quality of life
Radiotherapy
Selective estrogen receptor modulator
Selective norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors
Suppression of Ovarian Function Trial
Selective serotonine reuptake inhibitor
Subpopulation Treatment Effect Pattern Plots
Tamoxifen
Tamoxifen
Total body bone density
Tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase type 5b
Zoladex Early Breast Cancer Research Association
Zoladex In Premenopausal Patients

1 INTRODUCTION

Breast cancer is the commonest cancer among women and the leading cause of death in women, aged 35-54 years¹. Although the median age for breast cancer is over 60 years, around 25% of the women are below 50 years of age at the time of diagnosis 2 . Breast cancer at a young age has aggressive biological behaviour more often and is associated with poorer prognosis in comparison to older women^{3,4}. Tumours in younger women tend to have higher grades and proliferation markers and are more often hormone receptor negative and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER-2) positive, than tumours in older women ⁵⁻⁷. Similarly to other Western countries, breast cancer incidence in Sweden has increased at an average of 1.3 per cent annually over the last 20 years². At the same time, survival after breast cancer diagnosis has been constantly improving, due to several possible factors, such as the introduction of mammography screening, improved radiotherapy techniques, more potent cytotoxic and targeted drugs, as well as improved endocrine treatment. In spite of the continuously evolving treatment for early breast cancer in the last decades, resulting in better prognosis and better control of side effects, the optimal adjuvant therapy for premenopausal women is yet to be defined⁸⁻¹⁰. Furthermore, frequent long-term side effects among young women include premature menopause, infertility and bone loss, among other quality of life (QoL) issues needing to be addressed. As more women have excellent prognoses after adjuvant therapy, a greater effort is necessary to assure physical and psychological well being after treatment.

1.1 ADJUVANT BREAST CANCER TREATMENT

Adjuvant therapy in breast cancer has proven to be effective in regard to disease-free survival as well as overall survival, unconditional of age or menopausal status. International guidelines, such as the St. Gallen International Expert Consensus, recommend several prognostic and predictive factors in order to select optimal treatment after surgery¹¹⁻¹⁴. In addition to assessment of tumour size and axillary lymph node status, analysis of estrogen- and progesterone receptor content, HER-2 expression, vascular invasion and the proliferative marker Ki-67 are recommended as standard assessment ¹². Using these clinicopathological parameters, breast cancer subtypes can be classified for systemic therapy recommendations (Table 1). According to the guidelines, hormone receptor positivity, HER-2 negativity and low Ki-67 are classified as Luminal A type, hormone receptor positive, HER-2 positive/negative and high Ki-67 as Luminal B type, hormone receptor negative, HER-2 positive as HER-2 positive (non luminal) type and hormone receptor negative, HER-2 negative as Triple negative type. In hormone receptor positive disease, endocrine therapy is a central part of the adjuvant treatment, with or without cytotoxic chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy. The efficacy of chemotherapy has been proven since the early studies of cyclophosphamide, 5fluorouracil and methotrexate (CMF) therapy in the 1970s, later succeeded by anthracycline-based treatment and then with the addition of taxanes, survival has improved step by step ¹⁵⁻¹⁸. In most studies, the benefit of chemotherapy is greatest among younger women, and is less as age advances ^{16, 17}. The recommended timing of cytotoxic chemotherapy is before endocrine and/or radiotherapy because the risk of increased adverse effects and possible interactions. Endocrine treatment is given concomitantly or after radiotherapy, according to local practise since concomitant treatment seems to be safe¹⁹. Radiotherapy, which is generally recommended following

breast-conserving surgery, and in some cases after mastectomy, is not only highly effective in regard to local recurrences, but improves survival as well ²⁰.

SUBTYPE OF BREAST CANCER	RECOMMENDED THERAPY	
Luminal A	Endocrine therapy alone	Few high risk require cytotoxics
Luminal B (HER-2 negative)	Endocrine +/- cytotoxic therapy	Addition of cytotoxics dependent on hormone receptor content or other high risk factors
Luminal B (HER-2 positive)	Cytotoxics + anti-Her-2 + endocrine therapy	Very low risk patients may be observed without adjuvant treatment
HER-2 positive	Cytotoxics + anti-HER-2 therapy	
Triple negative	Cytotoxics	

Table 1. Systemic treatment recommendations for breast cancer subtypes (Adapted from St. Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer ¹²).

1.2 STEROID HORMONE RECPETORS

Estrogen plays a fundamental role in the pathogenesis and development of breast cancer. Treatment aimed at reducing circulating estrogen has proven to be highly beneficial to women after breast cancer diagnosis and surgery. The estrogen receptor (ER) was discovered in the 1960s and led to subsequent findings that breast cancer growth is regulated by estrogen action via the ER ²¹. The identification of ER has been of extreme measures in regard to the development of treatment options in breast cancer. Evaluation of ER status is recommended as a part of the routine assessment of a tumour, based on the ER content being a major prognostic as well as predictive biomarker for endocrine therapy ^{22, 23}. In premenopausal women, ER positive tumours are somewhat less frequent or approximately 60% ^{24, 25}. Around 75% of all tumours express steroid hormone receptors and about 60% of ER positive tumours respond to endocrine therapy ^{26, 27}.

1.2.1 Methods of ER assessment

There have been mainly two methods used to assess the content of ER, i.e., quantitative analysis of ER (Figure 1) by ligand-binding assay (LBA) and immunohistochemical assessment (IHC).

1.2.2 Ligand-binding assay

LBA is based on isoelectric focusing of estradiol receptor protein from human mammary carcinoma in polyacrylamide gel or sucrose gradient analysis and requires fresh-frozen tumour tissue ²⁸. Values between 0 and 1000 femtomoles (fmol) per milligram (mg) of Protein have been reported, although a cut-off point of 3 to 10 fmol/mg Protein have often been used for defining ER positive tumours by this method, although some have used levels above 0.05 fmol/ μ g DNA. LBA was the former standard method and widely validated for estimating ER content. The main advantages of the LBA assay are the quantitative measurements with reproducibility as well as good quality control. There are, however, some disadvantages, namely that the method requires fresh tumour tissue, is relatively expensive and is not very specific for tumour cells only. On these grounds, LBA has mostly been replaced by IHC, which is currently the standard method ²⁹.

1.2.3 Immunohistochemical assessment

IHC is based on the use of highly specific monoclonal antibodies binding to the ER. The IHC method is at present more commonly used than LBA, as it is less expensive, easier to perform, useful on a wider variety of tumour tissue and is more sensitive as well as specific for staining tumour cells only. As little as 1% staining cells are defined as ER positive by the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO), although 10% staining cells has been used as a cut-off for positivity in a variety of studies. Recently, the St. Gallen Consensus Conference declared a tumour with any staining cells as ER positive ¹². In spite of the differences in the techniques, there is high concordance between the LBA and IHC methods, both in relation to ER status and clinical outcomes ³⁰⁻³⁴.



ER negative (0)



ER weakly positive (+)



ER positive (++)



ER strongly positive (+++)

Figure 1. Immunohistochemical assessment of the estrogen receptor in tumour tissue.

ER positive cells show a brown signal of nuclear intensity (score + to +++).

1.3 ADJUVANT ENDOCRINE THERAPY

The role of estrogen suppression has been known for a long time and goes back to the Scottish surgeon George Beatson's report in 1896 on the effect of bilateral oophorectomy in metastatic breast cancer ³⁵. However, there was over half a century of delay until the discovery of the ER³⁶, and it became clear that the presence of ER indicated that the tumour was dependent on estrogen and tumour response could be controlled by endocrine manipulation^{21, 37}. Luteinizing hormone–releasing hormone (LHRH) synthetic agonists were developed in the 1970s, allowing reversible ovarian function suppression. Again, there was a delay until the 1990s before a definite survival advantage was established for adjuvant ovarian suppression (OS) in premenopausal breast cancer ³⁸. Tamoxifen was introduced in the late 1960s and has since been studied extensively. Tamoxifen, a drug originally intended for contraception but failed as such, interferes with the activity of estrogen by competitive binding to the ER. The antifertility properties in rats led to the hypothesis of the drug's anti-breast cancer properties ^{39,40}. In later clinical trials, tamoxifen proved to be highly effective, and the drug has now been in clinical use for over 30 years. In spite of extensive research through the last decades, there are some unanswered questions regarding endocrine treatment in premenopausal women, such as whether OS in combination with tamoxifen is beneficial, the timing and duration of OS, as well as the additional benefit of OS in combination with cytotoxic chemotherapy.

1.3.1 Tamoxifen

Tamoxifen is the first successful targeted therapy in cancer and is listed as an essential medicine by the World Health Organisation. Tamoxifen is in a class of selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs), having tissue-dependent as well as species-dependent effects. For example, tamoxifen has a pure antiestrogenic effect in chicks ⁴¹.

In humans, however, tamoxifen has an antiestrogenic effect in some tissues and an estrogenic effect in other tissues. The antiestrogenic effects are most prominent in breast tissue and the vagina, where tamoxifen reduces glandular as well as epithelial development ^{42, 43}. The antiestrogenic effect on breast tissue decreases the risk of primary or contralateral breast cancer ^{44, 45}. Among the antiestrogenic effects of the drug are also vasomotor symptoms, such as hot flushes. However, in some tissues the estrogenic effects of tamoxifen are dependent on menopausal status. Among postmenopausal women, estrogenic effects are prominent in the uterus, the cardiovascular system as well as bone, whereas the main effect on bone in premenopausal women is antiestrogenic⁴⁶⁻⁵⁴. The enzyme cytochrome P450 2D gene (CYP2-D6) is responsible for the conversion of tamoxifen to endoxifen, which is the active metabolite of tamoxifen ⁵⁵. There are known inherited variants of CYP2-D6. which may influence both the magnitude of efficacy as well as side effects of tamoxifen ⁵⁶. In premenopausal women, estrogenic effects lead to decreased concentrations of the gonadotropins luteinizing hormone (LH) and follicle stimulating hormone (FSH)^{57, 58}. Tamoxifen was early on shown to have antitumor effects in both pre- and postmenopausal breast cancer, but there was a several decades delay until it became a standard therapy in the premenopausal setting⁵⁹. Tamoxifen with or without OS is still the standard endocrine treatment in premenopausal breast cancer ¹². The more recent aromatase-inhibitors (AIs) treatment is not effective in women with hormonal production from the ovaries ¹⁴. The role of AIs in combination with OS in the premenopausal setting is under investigation.



Figure 2. The structural formula of Tamoxifen

1.3.1.1 Duration and dosage of tamoxifen

Originally, tamoxifen was used for 1 year of adjuvant therapy after surgery, based on existing experience from advanced breast cancer treatment and average duration of response before drug resistance developed ^{60, 61}. Subsequent trials showed that 2 years were better than 1 year and later, 5 years were proven to be better than 2 years of treatment ⁶¹⁻⁶³. In the early clinical trials, the daily dose of tamoxifen varied from 10 to 40 mg. The dose mainly used in these studies for 1 and 2 years' treatment was 40 mg daily and 20 mg daily for 5 years. Treatment beyond 5 years, however, is not recommended as 10 years of tamoxifen has not yet shown net clinical benefit over 5 years of treatment because of the development of drug resistance and adverse side effects ⁶⁴⁻⁶⁶. In the postmenopausal setting, a switch to AIs for 2 to 3 years after 5 years of tamoxifen has proven to be of additional benefit ⁶⁷.

1.3.1.2 Efficacy of tamoxifen

In ER positive disease, tamoxifen improves disease-free survival as well as overall survival unconditional of other adjuvant therapies^{15, 16, 44}. Tamoxifen has as well been shown to reduce the risk of breast cancer in women at high risk of developing breast cancer ⁶⁵. The efficacy of tamoxifen treatment has repeatedly been reported in the Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG) overviews, and in a recent meta-analysis from 20 trials and 20,000 patients, tamoxifen reduces the rate of recurrence by 50% the first 5 years and 30% for up to 10 years.⁴⁴ Death rates are reduced by one third the first 15 years. The benefit of tamoxifen has been shown to be independent of factors, such as progesterone receptor (PR) status, age or nodal status. Interestingly, the efficacy of tamoxifen is independent of whether chemotherapy was given or not. Even for weakly positive ER, there is a substantial benefit of tamoxifen treatment and has only a marginally better effect in disease with much higher ER content^{44, 68}. In ER-negative disease, there is no benefit from tamoxifen.

1.3.2 Aromatase inhibitors

Newer endocrine therapies, such as aromatase inhibitors (AI), have shown to be more beneficial in regard to recurrence-free survival than tamoxifen in postmenopausal women. AIs inhibit the estrogen synthesis from androgens in the postmenopausal endocrine milieu. AIs are however not recommended for premenopausal women unless combined with ovarian ablative (OA) treatment. Recently, trials have been designed to assess whether AIs are superior to tamoxifen in premenopausal women. So far, there seems to be no additional benefit of AIs compared to tamoxifen in terms of survival, but there are substantially more side effects from AIs⁶⁹.

1.3.3 Ovarian suppression

Apart from surgery, ovarian suppression is the oldest therapy still in use for breast cancer. Ever since Beatson's report more than a century ago, the association between the hormonal action of the ovaries and the proliferation of breast cells has been known ³⁵. Fifty years later, the first randomised trials on ovarian ablative (OA) treatment were launched, and, consequently, the benefit of suppression therapy was established by the EBCTCG^{16,70}. It is clear that OS improves survival in premenopausal women with early breast cancer⁸. Treatment-induced OA, whether by endocrine- or chemotherapy, radiation or surgery, results in increased disease-free survival and overall survival in premenopausal endocrine-responsive breast cancer. Results from trials using LHRH agonists in the adjuvant setting have indicated significant benefit in terms of prolonged disease-free survival and improved survival with 2 years of treatment, regardless of other systemic treatment. Overview data on the use of LHRH agonists have shown that LHRH agonists have efficacy similar as cytotoxic chemotherapy. Furthermore, the addition of LHRH agonist to cytotoxic chemotherapy, without tamoxifen, significantly reduces the risk of recurrence. There is however no therapeutic benefit from combination endocrine therapy versus tamoxifen or goserelin alone in women treated with cytotoxic chemotherapy 8 . Still, there are some unanswered questions regarding the role of OS. Among them is OS's potential added value to tamoxifen in the adjuvant setting for premenopausal women. The optimal timing and duration of OS treatment with LHRH agonist are yet to be defined. In addition, it is uncertain whether LHRH agonists have a role among those not achieving amenorrhea during cytotoxic chemotherapy⁷⁰.

1.3.3.1 LHRH agonists

A LHRH agonist is a synthetic peptide that interacts with the luteinizing hormonereleasing hormone receptor to elicit its biologic response, the release of the pituitary hormones follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) and luteinizing hormone (LH) ⁷¹. Goserelin (Zoladex®) is a synthetic analogue of LHRH which binds to the LHRH receptor cells in the pituitary gland, thus leading to a short period of increased production of LH and production of the sex hormones testosterone and estrogen (Figure 3-4). After about 3 weeks, a profound decrease in FSH and LH secretion results through receptor downregulation. In women this results in severe hypoestrogenaemia, but the hypogonadal state is reversible ^{72, 73}. The recommended dose of goserelin for premenopausal breast cancer is 3.6 mg every 28 days subcutaneously for 2-3 years, as that has been the dose and duration used in most studies ⁷⁴⁻⁷⁹.



Figure 3. Schematic diagram of the gonadal-pituitary axis in women



Figure 4.

1.3.4 Long-term side effects of adjuvant endocrine treatment

1.3.4.1 Side effects of tamoxifen

As toxicity is low and side effects generally well tolerated, tamoxifen has been widely used for the past decades. The most common side effects are vasomotor symptoms, such as sweating and hot flushes; although undesirable, they are not serious ⁸⁰⁻⁸². Life-threatening and serious side effects are few but include increased risk of uterine cancer and thromboembolic events. The risk of uterine cancer is considerable, but highly age-dependent, with risk low in younger women but increasing with age ⁴⁴. The risk of thromboembolic event with a fatal outcome is also low among younger women ⁸³. There is not a significantly increased risk of cerebral stroke or cardiac mortality among women treated with tamoxifen. Overall, tamoxifen has not been shown to increase mortality among patients without recurrence ⁸⁴. In a recent overview, there is 3% risk of dying from other causes than breast cancer in the age group 45 to 54 years ⁴⁴. Among premenopausal women, tamoxifen does not adversely affect sexual function ⁸⁵. Likewise, anxiety and depression have not been significantly increased. However, vaginal discharge and irregular menses are more frequent among women treated with tamoxifen ^{51, 86}.

Premature ovarian failure (POF) and infertility is a frequent long-term result of cytotoxic chemotherapy in young women with breast cancer ^{74, 87-91}. The risk of ovarian failure is highly correlated to a woman's age, type of drug, dosage and duration ^{87, 91-96}. The rates of chemotherapy-related amenorrhea vary from 20% to 80%. In most studies, the majority of women over 40 years of age become amenorrheic ⁹⁷. The ovarian damage resulting from chemotherapy is not an "all or none" phenomenon and can present as irregular menses, amenorrhea or infertility. Cytotoxic chemotherapy reduces the number and quality of oocytes in the ovaries, i.e., the ovarian reserve ^{92, 93, 98-101}. Younger women require more chemotherapy to develop gonadal failure, which is probably related to the higher number of oocyte reserves in the ovaries, compared to women over 40 years. Older premenopausal women require shorter therapy for induction of amenorrhea than younger women and are more likely to develop permanent ovarian failure 90, 102. Alkylating drugs, such as cyclophosphamide, mostly used in combination therapies, are known to be highly toxic to the gonads. The cumulative cyclophosphamide dose is a strong predictive factor of chemotherapyinduced amenorrhea in young cancer patients. Ovarian failure, induced by alkylating agents, is however not cell-cycle specific and rates vary mostly dependent on age. Amenorrhea from cyclophosphamide therapy in younger women may vary from 18% to 61%, whereas the rates range from 61% to 97% in older women^{87, 97,90, 102}. The wellstudied CMF chemotherapy in breast cancer is associated with a high risk of ovarian failure, but is also highly dependent on age 74, 87, 103. Newer and more beneficial anthracycline-based regimens, with or without taxanes have not been shown to be more toxic to the ovaries (Table 2)^{90, 94, 102, 104}. This is probably due to the lower cumulative

doses of anthracycline as well as cyclophosphamide in the taxane combination regimens. The addition of anti-HER-2 drugs, such as trastuzumab, are unlikely to affect fertility in the long term, but need to be studied.

CHEMOTHERAPY REGIMEN	RATE OF AMENORRHEA		
	AGE < 40 YEARS	AGE > 40 YEARS	AGE NOT DEFINED
CMF ^{11, 81, 91, 99-101} FEC/FAC/AC ^{91, 98, 99, 102, 103} ACD/ACT/AC+T/D ^{84, 85, 99, 103}	36% (33 – 40) 44% 61%	78% (76 – 81) 81% 85%	60% (43 – 82) 56% (52 – 65) 50% (13 – 62)

Table 2. Incidence of chemotherapy-induced amenorrhea by chemotherapy regimen

and age

CMF: cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and 5-fluorouracil, FEC: 5-fluorouracil, epirubicin and cyclophosphamide; FAC: 5-fluorouracil, doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide, AC: doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide, ACD: doxorubicin, cyclophosphamide and docetaxel, ACT: doxorubicin, cyclophosphamide and paclitaxel, AC+TD: doxorubicin, cyclophosphamide and paclitaxel or docetaxel.

1.3.4.3 Protective effect of LHRH agonists on the ovaries

Adjuvant cytotoxic chemotherapy is often recommended for premenopausal patients on grounds of young age and higher risk for recurrence or metastatic disease. For the last decades, it has been a steady trend to postpone the first childbirth, which is presently in the late twenties, and it has become quite common for women over the age of 40 to consider pregnancy. Pregnancies after breast cancer do not adversely affect the prognosis and should in general not be discouraged ¹¹⁰⁻¹¹³. Although assisted fertility techniques have constantly been improving for the last decades, the need for ovarian protective therapies and prophylactic measures to prevent infertility is apparent. Since 2006, the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) recommends that oncologists should address the possibility of infertility and take measures to protect fertility ¹¹⁴. Fertility consultation and treatment by cryopreservation of fertilized ova or

ovarian tissue can be offered to some of these patients, but this approach is not feasible for all, due to factors such as cancer treatment delay and cost. Some of the fertility techniques are still experimental and do not restore hormone production for a longer duration. Ovarian protection by endocrine manipulation could therefore render an important therapeutic option in the prevention of POF in young women with malignant disease, where adjuvant cytotoxic chemotherapy is recommended. The mechanism of possible LHRH agonist protective effect on the ovaries is not known but several hypotheses have been generated. One is that by gonadotropin suppression follicles are put in a resting state and thus are not as vulnerable to damage ¹¹⁵. Another mechanism might be a decrease of utero-ovarian perfusion ^{116, 117}. Up-regulation of intra-gonadal anti-apoptotic molecules or protection of germline stem cells has been suggested as well ¹¹⁸. Reports on this effect have mostly been non-randomised, retrospective, some made with historic controls ^{115, 116, 119-124}. There have been few prospective randomised trials of high quality, designed to examine the protective effects from LHRH agonists in combination with chemotherapy. Reports from these trials show a wide variety of results and are not conclusive ^{123, 125-128}.

1.3.4.4 Bone mineral density

The skeleton undergoes constant remodelling throughout adult life. Estrogen receptors are present in bone, and estrogen plays a central role in the maintenance of bone. Estrogen stimulates osteoblasts, which in turn impair osteoclast activity and lead to decreased bone resorption ¹²⁹. Estrogen seems to be involved as well in remodelling bone by directly affecting osteoclast apoptosis, leading to increased bone resorption ¹³⁰. In premenopausal women these estrogenic effects act in delicate balance to define bone strength. However, when endogenous estrogen decreases dramatically after menopause,

bone resorption increases in proportion to bone formation, resulting in less bone strength ¹³¹. Bone strength reflects bone mineral density (BMD) and bone quality. At a young age gonadal hormones act to increase bone mass, and this reaches a peak before age 30¹³². Changes in hormonal balance induce bone metabolism disturbances and increase bone formation as well as bone resorption. Measurements of bone quality are not easily assessed, and BMD is generally used as a proxy for estimating bone strength. BMD is determined largely by genetic factors, hormonal status, body composition and muscle strength. In addition, lifestyle and environmental factors, such as exercise, smoking, vitamin-D, calcium intake and medication influence BMD¹³³. Bone metabolism is highly affected by changes in ovarian function, and treatment with estrogen has been shown to prevent menopause-induced bone loss ¹³⁴⁻¹³⁶. After the onset of menopause, decrease in estrogen levels is associated with an annual average loss of bone of 1-3% ^{137, 138}. The bone loss is accelerated in the first menopausal years but continues at a slower rate throughout life. Early menopause is one of the strongest predictors of osteoporosis ¹³³. Estrogen-sensitive changes in BMD are most rapidly seen in the lumbar spine and the hip, where osteoporotic fractures are also frequent and cause considerable morbidity and health economical consequences ¹³⁸. Osteoporosis can be classified as either primary or secondary. In women, primary osteoporosis often follows menopause, and secondary osteoporosis may be result of medication or disease. Current clinical guidelines recommend proactive monitoring and intervention for osteoporosis among women treated for breast cancer ^{139, 140}. More attention to conditions associated with secondary osteoporosis is needed, and measures to protect skeletal health are recommended ¹⁴⁰. Treatment with bisphosphonates has shown to be effective in preventing decrease in BMD from ovarian ablative therapy and should be considered when appropriate ¹⁴¹⁻¹⁴⁴. Therapy-induced bone loss is a well known longterm effect of OA¹⁴⁵⁻¹⁴⁸. Women developing chemotherapy-induced amenorrhea

undergo accelerated loss of bone mass, compared with women maintaining their ovarian function^{142, 147, 148}. The effect of LHRH agonists on the ovaries is reversible, but there have been few reports on bone mass changes after stopped treatment. In postmenopausal women, tamoxifen has well-studied agonistic oestrogenic effects on bone ^{47, 53, 54, 149}. In contrast, tamoxifen induces bone loss in premenopausal women although the exact mechanism remains unclear ^{52, 53, 147}. In addition to LHRH-agonists tamoxifen results in less changes in BMD ^{52 69}. Hence, tamoxifen seems to modify somewhat the demineralising effect of LHRH-agonist in bone. The possible role of AI treatment in combination with LHRH agonist is not clear, but the addition of AIs is likely to exaggerate the bone effects. At present, there is limited data from the adjuvant setting, but AIs alone have shown a marked effect on bone metabolism^{67, 69, 143, 150, 151}. Treatment with bisphosphonates has been shown to effectively reduce therapy-induced bone loss^{141, 152, 153}. In addition, there is data from studies on bisphosphonate zoledronic acid, which effectively counteracts the demineralising effects from goserelin, as well as improves disease-free survival ^{69, 143}.

1.3.4.5 Bone turnover markers

In spite of BMD being the standard for assessing bone mass changes, it does not provide information about the rate of bone turnover. Markers of bone formation and bone resorption can, in addition to BMD, give preciser information on bone quality and better predict fracture risk¹⁵⁴. Changes in markers of bone turnover reflect changes in skeletal metabolism. Alkaline phosphatase (ALP) plays an important role in bone formation and mineralisation. ALP is produced in various tissues such as liver, bone, intestine, spleen, kidney and placenta. Around 50% of ALP in serum originates from bone. Bone-specific ALP isoenzyme assay can be used to detect bone ALP. Osteocalcin (OC) is a hydroxyapatite-binding protein synthesized by osteoblasts, odontoblasts and hypertrophic chondrocytes. Osteocalcin is a well-established marker of bone formation but lacks both sensitivity and specificity ¹⁵⁵. OC is considered a specific marker of osteoblast function. Newer markers, such as pyridinoline, crosslinked amino-terminal telopeptide of type I collagen (PINP) and C-terminal telopeptide (CTX), which is a bone resorption marker, increase the predictability of bone turnover ^{134, 155}. These markers are derived from collagen type I and can be measured by specific immunoassays. Bone turnover is easily affected by several factors, such as age, disease, drugs, recent fracture, circadian, menstrual or exercise effects, which need to be considered in clinical interpretation ¹⁵⁶⁻¹⁵⁸. Bone markers are known to increase after the menopause, whereas bone protecting therapies, such as with calcium and bisphosphonates, have been shown to decrease levels of BTM ^{134-136, 141, 154}. High bone turnover has been associated as well with malignant bone disease and negative prognosis in metastatic disease ¹⁵⁹. Up to now, however, there is no consensus on the clinical use of bone markers.

2 AIMS OF THE STUDY

To evaluate the efficacy and some long-term side effects of adjuvant endocrine treatment in premenopausal breast cancer by testing the following hypotheses:

I: Adjuvant tamoxifen in combination with LHRH agonist is superior to tamoxifen alone, LHRH agonist alone or no endocrine therapy in regard to recurrence-free survival after radical surgery

II: The efficacy of the different endocrine therapies is dependent on the levels of estrogen receptor content.

III: LHRH agonist treatment have a protective effect on ovarian function in adjuvant cytotoxic chemotherapy.

IV: Treatment with LHRH agonist alone significantly increases bone loss.

V: LHRH agonist-induced bone loss is reversible after cessation of therapy and can be reduced by concomitant tamoxifen therapy.

VI: Biochemical markers of bone turnover may be useful for early detection of patients at risk of accelerated bone loss, as well as for monitoring and early intervention in prevention of osteoporotic fractures.

3 PATIENTS AND METHODS

3.1 PATIENT COHORT IN STUDIES I-IV

3.1.1 The Zoladex in Premenopausal Patients (ZIPP) trial

The ZIPP trial was a collaboration between four research groups: 1) Stockholm Breast Cancer Group, 2) South East (S-E) Sweden Breast Cancer Study Group, 3) Cancer Research UK and UCL Cancer Trials Centre (CRC), United Kingdom (UK) and 4) Gruppo Interdisciplinare Valutazione Interventi in Oncologia (GIVIO), Italy. The study was designed to determine whether the addition of goserelin and/or tamoxifen to adjuvant therapy provided benefit for premenopausal women with early breast cancer⁷⁷, ¹⁶⁰. The inclusion criteria were women, premenopausal or under 50 years of age, with stage I or II breast cancer, unconditional of ER status. Surgery of the breast/axilla and radiotherapy was according to local routines, as well as adjuvant chemotherapy. The protocol recommended CMF chemotherapy, but some centres used a regimen of 5fluorouracil, epirubicin and cyclophosphamide (FEC). Initially, patients were to enter a 2 x 2 factorial randomisation. However, randomisation was not strictly factorial at all participating study sites. Randomisation was strictly 2 x 2 factorial throughout the study period only in the Stockholm and Italian centres. In the UK centres patients were initially entered into 2 x 2 factorial randomisation, but as the study proceeded, tamoxifen randomisation became optional and tamoxifen in 20 mg daily doses was allowed electively. In S-E Sweden patients were initially entered into a 2 x 2 randomisation to tamoxifen 40 mg daily, but later in the study all patients were given tamoxifen. The inconsistencies in the study design are mainly due to the uncertainty of the role of tamoxifen in the premenopausal setting at the time of the study planning. Goserelin was administered by subcutaneous injection of 3.6 mg every 28 days for 2 vears at all sites⁷⁷.

3.1.2 The Stockholm cohort of the ZIPP trial (Papers I-IV)

In Stockholm all patients were included in a 2 by 2 factorial randomisation for goserelin (3.6 mg subcutaneously every 28 days), tamoxifen (40 mg daily), a combination of goserelin and tamoxifen or no endocrine therapy for 2 years. Nodepositive women were allocated to adjuvant CMF chemotherapy (six cycles of cyclophosphamide 600 mg/m2, methotrexate 40 mg/m2 and 5-fluorouracil 600 mg/m2 intravenously administered on days 1 and 8, every 28 days), in addition to endocrine therapy. Patients with four or more positive lymph nodes received additional locoregional radiotherapy, including the chest wall, axillary and supraclavicular lymph nodes, 46 Gy for 4.5 weeks (Figure 5). Endocrine treatment was given concurrently with chemotherapy. The randomisation was stratified in three groups, based on nodal status and use of other adjuvant therapies: node negative patients receiving no adjuvant chemotherapy, patients with one to three positive lymph nodes who received chemotherapy and patients with four or more positive lymph nodes who received both chemotherapy and loco-regional radiotherapy. Randomisation was carried out by telephone to a central office where the patient identifiers were recorded before the allocated treatment was revealed to the responsible physician. Treatment allocation was based on balanced lists, using the permuted block technique. The inclusion criteria were invasive breast cancer ≥ 10 mm, premenopausal menstrual status (defined as last menstruation ≤ 6 months earlier), primary surgery consisting of a mastectomy or a wedge resection plus axillary node dissection and no clinical evidence of distant metastases. The exclusion criteria were inoperable breast cancer, previous radiotherapy or neo-adjuvant chemotherapy and previous or concurrent endocrine therapy.

Patients from the Stockholm cohort were recruited to several studies, designed and conducted by the Stockholm Breast Cancer Study Group:

I: Study of the efficacy of and interaction between LHRH agonist and tamoxifen

II: Study of ovarian protection from LHRH agonist treatment

III: Study of bone mineral effects

IV: Study of bone turnover markers

V: Study of endocrine side effects (Quality-of-life)

VI: Study of chemo- and/or endocrine therapy's effects on sexuality

VII: Study of factors influencing return to work after adjuvant treatment

Studies V-VII have been described and reported separately ^{51, 85, 161}. Studies I-IV are

included in this thesis.



Figure 5. Study design and recruitment in studies I - IV.

All patients with breast-conserving surgery were assigned radiotherapy (RT) to the breast, 50 Gy's in 5 weeks. pT: pathological tumour size in millimetres, pN: pathological nodal status, CMF: cyclophosphamide, methotrexate and 5-fluorouracil, Tam: tamoxifen
3.1.3 Paper I

A total of 927 women in Stockholm were recruited to the study from May 31, 1990, to January 8, 1997. Of the 927 recruited women, 234 were randomised to the control (C) arm, 231 were randomised to receive goserelin (G), 231 to tamoxifen (T) and 231 to goserelin plus tamoxifen (GT) therapy. One woman was incorrectly randomised twice and one woman was diagnosed with recurrent disease at the date of randomisation. The remaining 925 women were included in the analysis (Figure 5). The common end of follow-up was January 1, 2006.

3.1.3.1 *Efficacy*

Time to event was calculated as time from the date of randomisation to the date of disease recurrence, contralateral breast cancer, other cancer or death without a reported recurrence, whichever came first. Time for alive and event-free patients was calculated from the date of randomisation to the common end-date for follow-up, December 31, 2005. The Kaplan–Meier technique was used to estimate failure probability, and the log rank test was used to test for difference in time to event between treatment groups. Hazard rate ratios and 95% confidence intervals were estimated using proportional hazards regression. When assessing the main treatment effect of tamoxifen or goserelin, the other treatment was used as control. Test for interactions was performed by inclusion of product terms in the regression models. We also analysed the effect of treatment on time to first recurrence according to level of ER content. Data on ER content were available on 793 patients (86%). Interaction between treatments and ER content were further investigated graphically by the use of Subpopulation Treatment Effect Pattern Plots (STEPP). The STEPP analysis was performed using the program stepp_tail, implemented in the statistical software Stata.

3.1.3.2 Hormone receptor content

All hormone receptor analyses on tumour samples were performed at a single laboratory, which participated in repeated control studies for receptor determination, using the same technique. The ER content was determined by isoelectric focusing on polyacrylamide gel. The receptor values were normalised to DNA content as measured by Burton and expressed as the binding capacity of estradiol in fmol/µg DNA ²⁸. Tumours with a receptor content equal to or more than 0.05 fmol/µg DNA were classified as ER-positive, whereas tumours with estrogen content less than 0.05 fmol/µg DNA were classified as ER-negative ¹⁶². We further subdivided ER-positive tumours into intermediate ER: 0.05–0.59 fmol/µg DNA and high-ER: \geq 0.60 fmol/µg DNA. The cut-off for the two ER-positive groups was made at a level which created equally sized groups.

3.2 PATIENT COHORT IN STUDIES II-IV

The Stockholm Breast Cancer Study Group initiated sub-studies of treatment-related side effects in the Stockholm cohort of the trial, such as effects on ovarian function, bone mineral density, return to work and quality of life. Between October 1990 and June 1994, patients were recruited to these studies.

3.3 PAPER II

285 out of 408 (70%) eligible patients in the randomised trial were recruited to the study of ovarian function. Patients were allocated to the study before randomisation to the treatment arms. The reason that 123 patients were not recruited was the patient's preference. Additionally 25 patients were excluded because of recurrent disease. The remaining 260 patients were included in the analyses (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Study design and patient flow diagram

3.3.1 Instrument

Self-reporting questionnaires were obtained from patients on scheduled visits to the outpatient clinic at baseline, 3 months, 12, 24, 30 and 36 months after randomisation. The questions on menses were a part of the quality-of-life questionnaire designed for the study of side effects ¹⁶³. The women reported whether menses had ceased, had not ceased but become scanty or not ceased since the previous survey and visit to the outpatient clinic. The first survey was made at the time of randomisation and the period

since the previous survey, varied from 3 to 9 months. All analyses were performed according to the intention-to-treat principle. In analysing each time point, menses self-reported as regular or irregular were deemed as having menses, whereas women reporting absence of menses were assessed as being amenorrheic. Fisher's exact test was used to assess differences between the treatment groups.

3.4 PAPERS III-IV

Between October 1990 and June 1994, patients at the Department of Oncology, Karolinska University Hospital Södersjukhuset in Stockholm were recruited to the study of bone effects. Only patients from the strata not receiving chemotherapy were eligible for the study on BMD and bone markers. A total of 89 (81% of eligible patients at the two participating hospitals during the period of entry) node-negative patients from the four randomised groups were recruited to the bone mineral study. Of the eligible women, 27 patients were assigned to groups either receiving tamoxifen or tamoxifen plus goserelin; 26 patients were assigned to receive goserelin alone, and 30 patients were assigned to the control group (Figure 5).

3.4.1 Bone mineral density study (Paper III)

Women with recurrent or metastatic disease were withdrawn from further bone mineral examinations. Data for 23 patients were unavailable after 12 months. Of these, 3 patients died, 6 patients had missing data because of their preference, and 14 patients had missing data because of administrative errors. Complete data on all four measurements as defined in the protocol were available for 53 patients. The mean difference in BMD change between examinations at 24 months and baseline and within the treatment groups was tested by the paired t-test Differences in BMD change between treatment groups were estimated by multiple linear regression, controlling for

baseline values. Analyses were made according to the intention-to-treat principle and included women with at least three measurements of BMD available.

3.4.2 Bone Densitometry (Papers III-IV)

Bone density measurement was made before initiation of treatment and at 12 months, 24 months, and 36 months post-initiation (i.e., the last examination was made 1 year after treatment finished). Total body bone mass (TBBD) was measured by dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry, using a Lunar DPX-L device (Lunar Corporation, Madison, WI). The precision of the technique is 1%, and the accuracy is 10%. BMD of the lumbar spine (L2 to L4) was measured at baseline for the patients as well for validation of the equipment used. An experienced investigator blinded to the individual patients' identities analyzed the scans. All measurements were made with the same equipment and evaluation procedures.

3.4.3 Bone marker assays (Paper IV)

Blood sampling was performed on the planned visits to the out-patient clinic at baseline and every three months up to one year after stopped treatment. A total of 110 patients recruited to the examinations of bone markers were recruited to the study. Blood samples were collected at 6-month interval up to 36 months. All blood samples were drawn and stored at -70°C at the same centre (hospital, out-patient clinic). All blood analyses were performed at one laboratory, with the same equipment and technique. Of the 82 patients where blood samples were available at baseline, 17 were excluded from analysis (three because of metastatic or recurrent disease, two because of death and twelve because of patient preference). Of the remaining 65 patients, analysis included a total of 50 patients, where bone marker assays were available at baseline and 6 months. BMD examinations were done at baseline and 6 months; in addition, bone marker assays were available for 40 patients.

The biochemical bone turnover markers osteocalcin (OC), pyridinoline cross-linked amino terminal telopeptide of type I collagen (PINP) and C-terminal telopeptide (CTX) were measured. The OC measurements were made with Elecsys(R) 1010/2010 System Osteocalcin Immunoassay. The assay uses 2 monoclonal antibodies against the N-MID-fragment and N-terminal fragment of the osteocalcin molecule. The method is non-dependent on the unstable C-terminal fragment. The sensitivity of the assay is 50 µg/L. The PINP analyses were made by immunoassay technique, using Roche Elecsys total PINP test with a sensitivity of 5 μ g/L, and β –CTX was measured with Elecsys β -CrossLaps/serum assay. The assay uses 2 monoclonal antibodies against a cross-linked isomerised type I collagen fragment and has a sensitivity of 0.05 ng/ml. Values for OC, PINP and CTX are expressed in ng/mL. The intra- and interassay coefficient of variation (CV) was 2.0% and 4% for OC, 1.7% and 4.4% for PINP and 2.5% and 3.5% for CTX. The mean ratio (6 months/baseline) was calculated as the mean paired difference of the log-transformed variables and was tested using the t-test. The logtransformed differences were then back-transformed, where the antilog of the mean differences is an estimate of the geometric mean of the ratio of the variables. Results are presented as ratios together with 95% confidence intervals. Association between BMD and the bone markers OC, PINP and CTX was assessed by using the Spearman rank correlation coefficient. Confidence intervals for the correlation coefficients are based on Fisher's transformation.

4 **RESULTS**

4.1 PAPER I

The treatment groups were similar in regard to clinical and histopathological characteristics, as seen in Table 3.

PATIENTS CHARACTERISTICS BY ALLOCATED TREATMENT							
	CONTROL N=234	GOSERELIN N=231	TAMOXIFEN N=231	GOSERELIN & TAMOXIFEN N=229			
Age at randomization (SD), years	45.4 (5.5)	46.0 (4.9)	45.6 (5.1)	45.5 (5.0)			
Histopathological nodal involvement							
NO	116 (50%)	118 (51%)	117 (51%)	114 (50%)			
N1-3	81 (35%)	80 (35%)	79 (34%)	79 (35%)			
N4+	37 (16%)	33 (14%)	35 (15%)	36 (16%)			
Histopathological tumor size (mm)							
<20	152 (65%)	149 (65%)	153 (66%)	139 (61%)			
21-50	73 (31%)	74 (32%)	72 (31%)	82 (36%)			
>50	5 (2%)	4 (2%)	4 (2%)	4 (2%)			
Unavailable	4 (2%)	4 (2%)	2 (1%)	4 (2%)			
Estrogen receptor status							
Positive ¹	151 (65%)	147 (64%)	153 (66%)	141 (62%)			
Negative ²	51 (22%)	44 (19%)	50 (22%)	56 (25%)			
Unavailable	32 (13%)	40 (17%)	28 (12%)	32 (14%)			
Scheduled for chemotherapy	118 (50)	113 (49)	114 (49)	114 (50)			

¹>0.05 fmol/µg DNA ²<0.05 fmol/µg DNA

Table 3. Patients characteristics by allocated treatment

After a median follow-up time of 12.3 years, 166 women presented with loco-regional recurrence as a first event, 159 had distant metastases, 54 had contra-lateral breast cancer, 50 women were diagnosed with other cancers, and there were 6 deaths as first event. The overall number of deaths from breast cancer was 225, and there were 26 non-breast cancer deaths. The total number of first events was 435. There were 128 (55%) first events in the C group, 98 (42%) in G treated, 101 (44%) in T treated and 108 (47%) in the GT group (Table 4).

TYPE OF EVENT BY ALLOCATED TREATMENT							
EVENT	CONTROL	GOSERELIN	TAMOXIFEN	GOSERELIN & TAMOXIFEN			
Failures (1st events)	128 (55%)	98 (42%)	101 (44%)	108 (47%)			
Deaths	75 (32%)	51 (22%)	59 (26%)	66 (29%)			
Number of patients	234	231	231	229			
¹ >0.05 fmol/µg DNA ² <0.05 fmol/µg DNA							

Table 4. Proportion of the type of first event in the different treatment groups

Three main sets of analyses were carried out: first the overall effect of endocrine therapy versus no endocrine therapy; second, the effect of goserelin with or without tamoxifen and, finally, the effect of tamoxifen with or without goserelin.

- Compared to the controls, endocrine treatment with either goserelin alone or combined with tamoxifen or endocrine treatment with tamoxifen alone reduced the risk of first recurrence by 32% (CI, 0.52–0.89), 24% (CI, 0.59–0.98) and 27% (CI, 0.56–0.94), respectively (P = 0.021).
- Goserelin treatment reduced the risk of first recurrence by 16% (CI, 0.68–1.02). There was no additional beneficial effect of goserelin with tamoxifen, but in the absence of tamoxifen, first recurrence was reduced by 32% (CI, 0.53–0.89).
- 3. The main effect of tamoxifen was not statistically significant (HR: 0.89, CI, 0.74–1.08), but when examined separately for those not treated with goserelin, there was a 27% benefit from tamoxifen (CI, 0.56–0.95). A test for interaction between goserelin and tamoxifen was statistically significant (p = 0.025) (Figure 7).



Figure 7. First event according to treatment groups.

C: controls, G: goserelin, T: tamoxifen, TG: tamoxifen and goserelin, G-: without goserelin, G+: with goserelin, T-: without tamoxifen, T+: with tamoxifen

When we examined the treatment effect for different levels of ER content, there was an overall effect of goserelin in the high-ER group (HR: 0.71, CI, 0.50–0.99, P = 0.044) and a trend towards greater risk reduction with increasing levels of ER content. The greatest risk reduction from goserelin treatment in the group with high ER was observed among those not receiving tamoxifen (HR: 0.52, CI, 0.32–0.84, P = 0.007). The main effect of tamoxifen in the high-ER group was not significant (HR: 0.85, CI, 0.61–1.18). Neither was there a significant risk reduction for tamoxifen alone (HR: 0.68, CI, 0.44–1.05, P = 0.081). For the intermediate ER group, there was no main effect from either goserelin (HR: 0.80, CI, 0.57–1.14) or tamoxifen (HR: 0.97, CI, 0.68–1.38). Finally, among those classified as ER negative, there was no main effect from goserelin (HR: 1.25, CI, 0.85–1.82), tamoxifen (HR: 0.85, CI, 0.59 to 1.24) or combined goserelin and tamoxifen (HR: 1.03, CI, 0.63–1.67). In the intermediate and ER-negative groups, the treatment effects of goserelin and tamoxifen did not modify each other (Fig. 8).





The curves show hazard ratios on a logarithmic scale for treatment interactions. Circles represent the treatment effect (plotted at the category mean) in the ER categories: < 0.05, 0.05-0.59 and ≥ 0.60 fmol/µg DNA.

4.2 PAPER II

4.2.1 Women treated with CMF chemotherapy

At baseline, 6% (7/119) women reported absence of menses, which was in accordance with inclusion criteria, as premenopausal status was defined as the last menses within less than 6 months. At 3 months, 50% (13/26) of the women in the C group reported amenorrhea. For women in the T group, the figure was 73% (19/26). Women in G or GT groups, reported amenorrhea in 93-94% (26/28 and 34/36 respectively) of cases. At 24 months, i.e., after 2 years of endocrine treatment, 85% (17/20) of the controls, 95% (19/20) of the T group, 97% (29/30) of the GT and 92% (22/24) of the G group were amenorrheic. At this time point, there was no statistically significant difference in amenorrhea for goserelin-treated patients, compared to all other treatment groups (P = 1.00). Six months after cessation of endocrine treatment, the proportion of amenorrheic women continued to increase to 94% (16/17) for the controls, was 87% (20/23) for the T group, unchanged at 92% (24/26) for the GT group, but only 67% (14/21) of the women treated with goserelin reported absence of menses at this time point. At 36 months, i.e., 1 year after stopped endocrine treatment, the proportion of amenorrheic women in the control group was 90% (18/20), 87% (20/23) for the T group, 93% (27/29) for the GT group but had decreased to 64% (14/22) for the G group. The increase in the proportion of menstruating women in the G group was statistically significant, compared to all other groups where menses were unchanged or decreasing between 24 and 36 months (P = 0.006) (Fig. 9).

4.2.2 Women not treated with CMF chemotherapy

All randomized patients reported having menses at baseline. At 3 months, 9% (3/34) of the controls, 21% (6/29) of the T group, 86% (31/36) of the GT group and 97% (32/33) of the G group were amenorrheic. At 2 years after randomization, 13% (4/31) of the controls, 21% (5/24) of the T-group, 69% (22/32) of GT-group and 82% (23/28) of the G-group reported amenorrhea. Six months after completed endocrine treatment, 17% (5/29) of the controls, 12% (3/24) of the T group, 28% (8/29) of the GT group and 37% (10/27) of the G group were amenorrheic. At 36 months, i.e., 1 year after completed endocrine treatment, 20% (6/30 and 5/25 respectively) of the controls and T group, 32% (10/31) of the GT group and 41% (12/29) of the G group were amenorrheic. At 36 months, i.e., 1 year after stopped endocrine therapy, there was no statistically significant difference in the menstrual status of women treated with goserelin, compared to all other treatment groups (P = 0.15).



Figure 9. Ovarian function according to treatment. Percentage of CMF treated women menstruating at different time points

4.3 PAPER III

During the first 2 years, all three endocrine treatment groups showed a significant decrease in BMD, and the greatest changes in all measurements were seen in patients allocated to goserelin treatment. The groups receiving tamoxifen alone or tamoxifen plus goserelin showed a less but continuous decline in BMD. For patients allocated to the control group, no significant change in BMD was found. The G group showed an average change from baseline in BMD (in grams per centimetres squared) of - 0.057 (P < 0.001). In the TG group the change was -0.015 (P = 0.02), and in the T group the change was -0.018 (P < 0.001). In the group receiving no endocrine treatment, the change was -0.002 (P = 0.76). These absolute changes correspond to decreases in BMD of 5.0%, 1.4%, 1.5%, and 0.3% for the G group, TG group, T group, and control group, respectively. Of the endocrine-treated groups, only the G group significantly differed in mean change in BMD at 2 years, compared to the control group (-0.058 g/cm²; 95% CI, -0.078 to -0.039; P < 0.001). At 3 years (1 year after cessation of treatment), the G group alone showed a partial recovery from bone loss, with a change of 0.017 (P = (0.02). This corresponds to an increase in BMD of approximately 1.5%. None of the other groups showed significant changes in BMD during this period. Changes in BMD are presented in Figure 10. Baseline measurements of BMD of the lumbar spine showed a correlation with TBBD (r = 0.8).



Figure 10. Change in bone mineral density in the different treatment groups

Mean change in BMD (g/cm^2) in different treatment groups from baseline up to 3 years of treatment for 53 patients. C: control, T: tamoxifen, TG: tamoxifen plus goserelin, G: goserelin

4.4 PAPER IV

Among women treated with goserelin (G), there was a statistically significant elevation of all bone markers at 6 months. The mean increase in OC was 57% (CI, 1.31-1.89, p < 0.001); PINP increased by 65% (CI, 1.29-2.11, p = 0.001), and there was a 98% increase in CTX (CI, 1.55-2.53, p < 0.001). Among women treated with goserelin in combination with tamoxifen (TG), there was a 5% decrease in OC (CI, 0.83-1.08, p = 0.35), a 13% decrease in PINP (CI, 0.75-1.02, p = 0.087), and a 10% increase in CTX (CI, 0.84-1.42; p = 0.45). In women treated with tamoxifen alone (T), OC decreased by 13% (CI, 0.54-1.40, P = 0.52), PINP by 13% (CI, 0.54-1.40, P = 0.52), and there was an increase in CTX of 4% (CI, 0.83-1.30, P = 0.71). Among the control (C) group of patients, OC decreased by 3% (CI, 0.83-1.12, P = 0.64), PINP by 22% (CI, 0.67-0.91, P = 0.003), and there was a 15% increase in CTX (CI, 0.98-1.36, P = 0.076). Among the 40 patients where BMD examinations were available at baseline and at 6 months, there was on average a 4% decrease in total body bone mass among G-treated patients (CI, 0.95-0.97, P < 0.001), a 2% decline among TG-treated patient as well as those treated with T alone (CI, 0.97-0.99, P < 0.001 and 0.97-1.00, P = 0.012, respectively). There was no statistically significant change in BMD in the C group (CI, 0.98-1.01, P = 0.86) (Table 4). Spearman rank correlation analysis showed that change in BMD was inversely correlated to change in all bone markers. After 6 months of treatment, there was a statistically significant association between change in BMD and OC (r = -0.51, CI, -0.71 to -0.23), PINP (r = -0.40, CI, -0.63 to -0.10) and CTX (r = -0.41, CI: -0.64 to -0.10) (Table 5).

MEAN BLOOD VALUES AND BONE MINERAL DENSITY BY ALLOCATED TREATMENT								
EXAMINATIONS AT BASELINE AND AT 6 MONTHS MEAN VALUES (SD)								
N	BASELINE	6 MONTHS	RATIO ^A (95% confidence interval)	P-VALUE ^B				
13	0.37 (0.15)	0.73 (0.32)	1.98 (1.55-2.53)	<0.001				
10	0.36 (0.16)	0.38 (0.13)	1.10 (0.84-1.42)	0.45				
11	0.24 (0.14)	0.23 (0.09)	1.04 (0.83-1.30)	0.71				
15	0.25 (0.13)	0.29 (0.14)	1.15 (0.98-1.36)	0.076				
13	58.3 (21.5)	102.7 (56.7)	1.65 (1.29-2.11)	0.001				
11	46.0 (14.5)	40.1 (11.5)	0.87 (0.75-1.02)	0.087				
11	43.9 (21.6)	32.9 (9.5)	0.87 (0.54-1.40)	0.52				
15	51.7 (16.1)	40.9 (14.5)	0.78 (0.67-0.91)	0.003				
13	25.0 (9.9)	38.6 (11.6)	1.57 (1.31-1.89)	<0.001				
11	20.6 (5.2)	19.4 (4.3)	0.95 (0.83-1.08)	0.35				
11	17.7 (3.8)	15.5 (4.5)	0.87 (0.75-1.01)	0.058				
15	19.0 (5.3)	18.7 (6.5)	0.97 (0.83-1.12)	0.64				
11	1.15 (0.06)	1.11 (0.05)	0.96 (0.95-0.97)	<0.001				
8	1.10 (0.05)	1.08 (0.05)	0.98 (0.97-0.99)	<0.001				
9	1.22 (0.07)	1.20 (0.06)	0.98 (0.97-1.00)	0.012				
12	1.13 (0.04)	1.13 (0.06)	1.00 (0.98-1.01)	0.86				
	NE MII EXA AND MEA N 13 10 11 15 13 11 15 13 11 15 13 11 15 13 11 15 13 11 15 13 11 15 13 11 15 13 11 15 13 11 15 13 11 15 13 11 15 13 11 15 13 11 15 13 11 15 13 11 15 13 11 15 13 11 15 13 11 15 13 11 15 15 11 11 15 15 11 11 15 15 11 11	NE MINERAL DENSI EXAMINATIONS AND AT 6 MONTI MEAN VALUES (\$ N 13 0.37 (0.15) 10 0.36 (0.16) 11 0.24 (0.14) 15 0.25 (0.13) 13 58.3 (21.5) 11 46.0 (14.5) 11 43.9 (21.6) 15 51.7 (16.1) 13 25.0 (9.9) 11 20.6 (5.2) 11 17.7 (3.8) 15 19.0 (5.3) 11 1.15 (0.06) 8 1.10 (0.05) 9 1.22 (0.07) 12 1.13 (0.04)	NE MINERAL DENSITY BY ALLOCAT EXAMINATIONS AT BASELINE AND AT 6 MONTHS MEAN VALUES (SD) N BASELINE 13 0.37 (0.15) 0.73 (0.32) 10 0.36 (0.16) 0.38 (0.13) 11 0.24 (0.14) 0.23 (0.09) 15 0.25 (0.13) 0.29 (0.14) 13 58.3 (21.5) 102.7 (56.7) 11 46.0 (14.5) 40.1 (11.5) 11 43.9 (21.6) 32.9 (9.5) 15 51.7 (16.1) 40.9 (14.5) 13 25.0 (9.9) 38.6 (11.6) 11 20.6 (5.2) 19.4 (4.3) 11 17.7 (3.8) 15.5 (4.5) 15 19.0 (5.3) 18.7 (6.5) 11 1.15 (0.06) 1.11 (0.05) 8 1.10 (0.05) 1.08 (0.05) 9 1.22 (0.07) 1.20 (0.06) 12 1.13 (0.04) 1.13 (0.06)	NE MINERAL DENSITY BY ALLOCATED TREATMENT EXAMINATIONS AT BASELINE AND AT 6 MONTHS MEAN VALUES (SD) N BASELINE 6 MONTHS RATIO ^A (95% confidence interval) 13 0.37 (0.15) 0.73 (0.32) 1.98 (1.55-2.53) 10 0.36 (0.16) 0.38 (0.13) 1.10 (0.84-1.42) 11 0.24 (0.14) 0.23 (0.09) 1.04 (0.83-1.30) 15 0.25 (0.13) 0.29 (0.14) 1.15 (0.98-1.36) 13 58.3 (21.5) 102.7 (56.7) 1.65 (1.29-2.11) 11 46.0 (14.5) 40.1 (11.5) 0.87 (0.75-1.02) 11 43.9 (21.6) 32.9 (9.5) 0.87 (0.54-1.40) 15 51.7 (16.1) 40.9 (14.5) 0.78 (0.67-0.91) 13 25.0 (9.9) 38.6 (11.6) 1.57 (1.31-1.89) 11 20.6 (5.2) 19.4 (4.3) 0.95 (0.83-1.08) 11 17.7 (3.8) 15.5 (4.5) 0.87 (0.75-1.01) 15 19.0 (5.3) 18.7 (6.5) 0.97 (0.83-1.12) 11 1.15 (0.06) 1.11 (0.05) 0.96 (0.95-0.97) 8 1.10 (0.05) 1.08 (0.05) 0.98 (0.97-0.99) 9 1.22 (0.07) 1.20 (0.06) 0.98 (0.97-1.00) 12 1.13 (0.04) 1.13 (0.06) 1.00 (0.98-1.01)				

Table 5. Mean blood values of bone markers and bone mineral density by allocated treatment.

^AMean ratio (6 months / baseline) of the paired values. ^BPaired t-test on log-transformed data.

5 DISCUSSION

This thesis focuses on the efficacy as well as long-term side effects in regard to bone health and ovarian preservation from ovarian ablative therapy in premenopausal breast cancer. All results are based on the Stockholm cohort of the larger ZIPP trial.

5.1 PAPER I:

The Stockholm cohort was exceptional in several aspects in comparison to the main ZIPP trial. In our study, patients were randomly assigned to endocrine therapy by a strict 2 x 2 factorial design, as was initially planned for the main trial. This cohort was also well defined according to hormone receptor content, nodal status and whether chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy were given or not. In addition, our strictly randomised data, based on all ER measurements made in a single laboratory, were suited for examining the significance of ER content for predictability of endocrine therapy. The EBCTCG Overview group has concluded that LHRH agonists alone improve survival in the adjuvant setting in hormone receptor positive breast cancer⁸, ⁷⁰. There are, however, some remaining questions regarding their optimal use. Among these is the uncertainty over the added value of combining tamoxifen with a LHRH agonist. As there is lack of data from randomised trials where LHRH agonists are tested against chemotherapy, with or without tamoxifen in both arms, a separate study of our cohort therefore seemed reasonable. Furthermore, the analyses of ER content, analysed at a single, highly qualified laboratory with a quantitative cytosol method, allowed analysis of the effect of different receptor levels on outcome. Our study shows that the effect of goserelin on recurrence is considerable. The most marked effect of goserelin is seen among those not concomitantly receiving tamoxifen. In a recent update of the ZIPP trial, there was also a survival benefit, not possible for us to examine in the Stockholm cohort because of the small sample size ¹⁶⁰. Our study

allows formal testing of interaction that is not possible for the overall trial because of inconsistencies in the study design. This formal test of the interaction between goserelin and tamoxifen in our randomised cohort confirms what was indicated in the overall trial report, i.e., that tamoxifen provides no additional benefit among women treated with goserelin. The same is true for the opposite, where goserelin provides no additional benefit for those treated with tamoxifen. Tamoxifen is effective in extending the time to first recurrence, but only among those not receiving goserelin. Our results, showing no additional benefit from combined endocrine therapy, are consistent with Overview data ¹⁶⁴. Former reports on combination endocrine therapy in postmenopausal adjuvant setting, such as the ATAC and ABCSG-12 trials, as well as the FACT trial in the metastatic setting, have also shown a lack of benefit ^{69, 150, 165}. Interestingly, the principle of combining endocrine drugs for improved efficacy has therefore not been proven. Sequential endocrine therapy, on the other hand, has proven to be beneficial, as seen in the BIG 1-98 and MA-17 trials ^{67, 166}. Survival analysis of the effect from different endocrine treatment overall, or in the subset of women developing chemotherapy-induced amenorrhea, was not possible in our study due to the limited cohort size. The ongoing Suppression of Ovarian Function Trial (SOFT) is expected to clarify the effect of combination endocrine therapy in the premenopausal setting more decisively. Our analysis of ER levels confirms the lack of effect on ER-negative women, in line with previous reports ^{16, 44}. An intriguing finding is, however, that the effect of goserelin increases with higher ER levels, whereas the effect of tamoxifen is unconditional of ER content. This may be a finding of chance, but the data indicate a clear difference, which may be based on biological grounds. Goserelin, which has a stronger estrogen suppressor effect than tamoxifen, is potentially more effective when ER content is high. In this group, tamoxifen may not have sufficient effect to counteract the highly estrogenic milieu of premenopausal

41

women. The STEPP plots demonstrating this effect are, however, based on small subsets of patients, and the data therefore have to be interpreted conservatively. Among postmenopausal women earlier studies have shown a significant trend in reduction of recurrence rate with higher ER levels among women treated with tamoxifen ¹⁶⁷ ^{27, 30, 162}. This supports the significance of stronger ER content in endocrine treatment where ovarian function is absent. A recent overview of pre- and postmenopausal patients shows unequivocal benefit of tamoxifen in all ER-positive categories, and the benefit is not dependent on the strength of ER content as formerly suggested ^{15, 44}. This supports our data in regard to the predictability of a tamoxifen effect related to ER content.

Quality of life aspects and long-term side effects are important factors to be taken into consideration when assessing improvements in adjuvant therapy. The Overview group earlier showed that goserelin is an option for women strongly opposed to cytotoxic drugs, or where chemotherapy is contraindicated⁸. Premature menopause is highly probable after chemotherapy, and desire for pregnancy is not uncommon after completed treatment. Moreover, some women may be reluctant to risk the adverse effects of permanent ovarian failure, such as infertility and accelerated bone loss. In addition to the studies presented here, the Stockholm cohort has been studied extensively concerning quality of life aspects and reported in several of publications⁵¹, ^{85, 161}. Berglund et al. have earlier shown that sexual dysfunction from goserelin was substantial the first 2 years but diminished over time, whereas chemotherapy-related symptoms were on-going at follow-up at 3 years⁸⁵. Nystedt et al. have similarly shown in the same cohort that menopausal side effects from goserelin the first 2 years are worse than from CMF. There were no differences in side effects from goserelin and/or tamoxifen among those receiving CMF chemotherapy. Only patients who did not receive chemotherapy had various effects from endocrine treatment. Among those,

treatment with goserelin was worse than therapy with combined goserelin-tamoxifen or tamoxifen alone. Anxiety and depressive symptoms were not significantly affected by endocrine treatment or chemotherapy. At 3 years of follow-up, the menopausal symptoms from goserelin reversed, whereas physical symptoms of CMF therapy effects were persistent ⁸⁶. Tolerability of goserelin in the adjuvant setting has also been reported by the Zoldex Early Breast Cancer Research Association (ZEBRA) with similar results. Side effects related to therapy-induced menopause were worse for goserelin, compared to CMF the first 2 years of treatment. However, one year after stopped treatment, side effects increased among patients treated with CMF, whereas side effects reversed when menses returned after goserelin treatment ^{74, 168}. Sick leave and factors associated with returning to work after treatment were examined by Johnson et al. Their study showed that endocrine therapy was associated with a twofold increase of risk of not having returned to work after 2 years ¹⁶¹. Compliance in the studies described here (papers I-IV) was good in all study groups. Compliance to adjuvant endocrine therapy is a factor that has recently come increasingly into focus. Adherence to 5 years of treatment can be a challenge for patients suffering from menopausal symptoms, and lack of compliance translates into inferior survival rates ¹⁶⁹. Clearly, this presents a great challenge for health professionals in regard to patient information as there is need for adequate follow-up and appropriate treatment of adverse effects. Lately, the use of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) that block the enzyme CYP2-D6 has been used against hot flushes, but there is concern that blocking the enzyme which metabolically activates tamoxifen to the potent antiestrogenic endoxifen reduces the benefits of the drug ¹⁷⁰. Selective norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs), such as venlafaxine, may be a safer alternative. The genetic variants of CYP2-D6 may also influence outcome among tamoxifen treated, but further research is needed before a routine assessment of the enzyme is recommended.

43

A limitation of the design of the Stockholm study may be the 2 years of 40 mg/day tamoxifen, which was standard at the time, instead of 5 years of 20 mg/day treatment as currently recommended. In contrast to tamoxifen, 2 years of goserelin is still within the recommended treatment period of 2 to 3 years although the optimal duration of treatment is not yet determined. Another limitation is the concurrent use of chemotherapy in the trial, which may not be optimal, based on the risk of endocrine therapy interacting with chemotherapy and sequential treatment currently being recommended as standard. This concern, however, is primarily based on a single report by Albain et al. ¹⁷¹. In all studies presented here (Papers I-IV), randomisation minimized the risk of uneven distribution of such factors in the different treatment groups.

5.2 PAPER II:

Our study on ovarian function shows, that amenorrhea is significantly less frequent one year after completed treatment among patients treated with goserelin as the only additive endocrine therapy during chemotherapy. This suggests that goserelin has a role in protecting ovarian function in a cytotoxic milieu, as has been reported in a recent review of randomised trials by the Cochrane group. There it is concluded that the use of LHRH agonists seems to be effective in protecting ovaries during chemotherapy and should be considered in women of reproductive age receiving chemotherapy ¹⁷². Previous data have nevertheless been conflicting. Several non-randomised studies have shown benefit from LHRH agonist treatment ^{96, 122-124, 173}. Other studies have shown no difference in the menses restoration rates ^{119, 121, 127}. The ZORO trial by the German Breast Group, where goserelin prophylaxis during taxane-based chemotherapy was investigated, showed no protective effect from goserelin on ovaries function ¹²⁶. In our study, the benefit is moderate and may be due to several effect modifiers, such as high

age and the timing of LHRH agonist treatment. Here, the age is rather high for a premenopausal population, with a mean age of 45 years. This is an age where natural menopause approaches, and age above 40 years is undisputedly a strong risk factor for permanent chemotherapy-induced amenorrhea¹⁷⁴. The timing of goserelin treatment is another factor, which possibly may not be optimal concerning a potential effect on preservation of ovarian function. Theoretically, LHRH agonist treatment should preferably start at least 2 weeks before initiation of chemotherapy, as an approach to optimising ovarian suppression in advance of cytotoxic chemotherapy effects. In our study, however, goserelin injections were started simultaneously with the first CMF course, which may be too late for achieving full effect. On the other hand, there are concerns of possible hazards from concomitant LHRH agonist and cytotoxic chemotherapy. Theoretically, there is a risk of an LHRH agonist affecting a receptor level, inducing cell cycle arrest, inhibiting proliferation and apoptosis and thereby reducing the efficacy of cytotoxic drugs. This negative effect, however, was not confirmed by the EBCTCG meta-analysis of the effect of LHRH agonists, which showed no significant difference in efficacy between chemotherapy used alone versus chemotherapy used in addition to an LHRH agonist⁸. Nevertheless, LHRH agonists should not be recommended routinely but used highly selectively, preferably in hormone receptor negative tumours, until data are conclusive. When tamoxifen was added to goserelin in CMF-treated women, there was no statistically significant change in the proportion of menstruating women one year after stopped treatment, in contrast to the CMF-treated women receiving goserelin alone. The mechanism behind this is unclear but can be explained by the SERM properties of tamoxifen, which acts as an estrogen agonist or antagonist, depending on the endogenous estrogen milieu. The rates of amenorrhea in our study are comparable to several earlier studies, where CMF frequently induces early and irreversible amenorrhea ^{74, 87, 103, 148}. The ZEBRA study

45

showed results comparable to ours, in that 65% of CMF-treated women became permanently amenorrheic ⁷⁴. CMF was the standard chemotherapy regimen at the time of the study, whereas anthracycline based chemotherapy, with or without taxanes, have later replaced CMF. The extent of ovarian suppression from these agents seems similar or even less than from CMF ^{90, 91, 97, 104, 105, 108, 109}. Our study, like most previous studies, used amenorrhea as a surrogate for ovarian failure. However, absence of menses is not an accurate measure of ovarian function. A woman can thus retain premenopausal status as well as fertility in spite of being amenorrheic. Likewise, a woman with regular menses can be infertile. Tamoxifen treatment for 5 years after cytotoxic chemotherapy presents a special dilemma, as tamoxifen can affect menses to a variable degree. Amenorrhea while on tamoxifen therapy does not equal premature menopause and infertility, and the effect of tamoxifen is reversible. Additional parameters of ovarian function, such as serum analysis of FSH, LH, anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) and inhibin B, have been studied as markers of ovarian reserve but are not yet integrated into clinical practice ^{99, 100, 175}. Poikonen et al. showed that post-chemotherapy menstrual status is a clinically useful marker of menstrual status, and that FSH and LH are less reliable ¹⁷⁶. The evaluation of serum markers, such as FSH and LH, after chemotherapy is therefore still under investigation. Furthermore, their use is not appropriate during goserelin and/or tamoxifen treatment because of gonadal suppression resulting in decreased levels of FSH and LH^{175, 177}. Possible confounders, such as the previous use of contraceptive pills as well as hormone replacement therapy due to menopausal symptoms, or prolonged tamoxifen treatment beyond 2 years, were not examined in this study.

5.3 PAPERS III-IV:

Our study on bone mineral density shows that goserelin causes a 5% loss of BMD after 2 years of treatment, but BMD partially recovers one year after stopped treatment. This represents rapid bone loss in young women, often many years prior to natural menopause, and may be an important determinant of fracture risk, as several other studies have shown ^{132, 137, 138}. This BMD study is consistent with other reports on LHRH agonist and/or tamoxifen effects among premenopausal women^{142, 145, 146}. Treatment with tamoxifen alone resulted in a mild, yet statistically significant, decrease in BMD. This apparent menstrual status-dependent effect can be explained by the difference in endocrine milieu in which tamoxifen is acting. In premenopausal women a demineralising effect on bone may be caused by tamoxifen antagonizing the more potent activity of endogenous estrogen¹⁷⁸. Among patients treated with goserelin in addition to tamoxifen, the effect on bone mass was similar to that in the group treated with tamoxifen alone. In this group, it seems that tamoxifen at least partially counteracts the demineralising effects of goserelin. In premature menopause from LHRH agonist treatment, it seems that tamoxifen when added to goserelin has similar agonistic estrogenic effects on bone as in postmenopausal women. In order to estimate the clinical impact of a 5% bone loss from goserelin, as in our study, a 10% loss in BMD is equivalent to a drop in T score by 1 which in turn increases fracture risk by 2.6 times. Therefore, we conclude that there is increased fracture risk from goserelin treatment although other factors play a role in bone strength ^{179, 180}. In the study of bone turnover, the LHRH agonist goserelin increases bone turnover. Markers of both bone formation and bone resorption increase after 6 months of goserelin treatment, whereas other endocrine therapies in our study do not show significant bone marker changes. Tamoxifen alone or in combination with goserelin is

47

not associated with significant changes in BTM. When compared to changes in BMD, the changes in bone markers show an inverse association, i.e., a decrease in BMD is correlated to elevation of serum bone markers. The effects of goserelin on BTM and BMD are distinct in comparison to other endocrine therapies. The increase in markers of both bone formation and bone resorption is consistent with other studies, and reflect the instability of the microstructure of bone induced by increased bone metabolism. The negative effect on bone mass from LHRH agonists and tamoxifen treatment among premenopausal women has been reported in several studies. In a tamoxifen chemoprevention study Powles et al. showed an annual BMD loss of 1.4% in the lumbar spine ⁵³. Our previous BMD study showed 5% decrease in BMD on average among goserelin-treated patients, whereas treatment with a combination of goserelin and tamoxifen or tamoxifen alone resulted in only a mild (1.4 - 1.5%) decline in BMD ⁵². Vehmanen et al. showed a similar effect of tamoxifen on bone loss, where women not achieving amenorrhea after chemotherapy developed bone loss from tamoxifen, whereas tamoxifen decreased bone loss among those achieving amenorrhea¹⁴⁷. The ABCSG-12 study showed an even greater loss of bone (11% in the lumbar spine and 7% in the hip) for those treated with combined goserelin and tamoxifen, and tamoxifen did not seem to have a counterbalancing effect to the same extent as seen in our study ⁶⁹. Moreover, the ABCSG-12 study showed a survival benefit from the use of the bisphosphonate zoledronic acid, an effect which needs to be confirmed in further studies ¹⁴³. Several studies on bone effects from AIs in postmenopausal women have shown an inverse correlation between BMD and bone markers similar to that presented here ^{155, 181, 182}. These reports show that bone loss is manageable, and the use of goserelin in addition to AIs should not be restricted. However, more aspects must be taken into consideration before recommending AIs in this setting. AIs have also been shown to have significantly increased association with hypercholesterolaemia and

cardiovascular morbidity in comparison to tamoxifen ¹⁸³. Studies of the AIs anastrozole and exemestane have shown consistent and significantly more gastrointestinal symptoms, vaginal dryness, dyspareunia and diminished libido among women treated with AIs in comparison to tamoxifen ¹⁸⁴⁻¹⁸⁶. At present, BMD measurements of the spine and hip are generally regarded as the method of choice for assessing fracture risk because of the frequency of fractures and their morbidity at these sites. This study was initiated before this was widely accepted. Therefore, it may be a limitation of our study that we did not measure BMD at the spine or hip. However whole-body measurements have advantages, such as detection of small changes with higher sensitivity than regional measurements ¹⁸⁷. Several investigators have shown a strong correlation on group level between whole-body BMD and BMD measurements at the hip or the spine ^{188, 189}. Whole-body measurements of BMD can therefore be used to detect bone loss as a systemic disease that is not limited to the axial skeleton ^{179, 190, 191}. In the past, a variety of bone markers have been examined besides OC, PINP and CTX as in our study. Bone-specific alkaline phosphatase (bone ALP), a relatively specific marker of bone formation, has also been widely used. Newer markers, such as such as tartrateresistant acid phosphatase type 5b (TRAcP-5b), osteoprotegerin (OPG) as well as bone sialoproteins (BSP), have been described. There has however been a lack of consensus on the use of bone markers in clinical practice, and BMD examinations remain to date the standard assessment of bone mass changes. Nevertheless, the International Osteoporosis Foundation (IOF) and the International Federation of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine (IFCC) have recently recommended the use of PINP as a marker of bone formation and CTX as a marker of bone resorption for BTM in clinical studies ¹⁹². A strength of our study, despite its limited sample size, is the use of these markers. In addition, all analyses were performed at one laboratory, which minimizes the risk of laboratory inconsistencies. The blood samples, however, were not collected

49

in the fasting state, which may have influenced results, as CTX in particular is highly influenced by dietary intake and circadian rhythm. In the studies of bone mineral density and bone turnover, data on possible confounders, such as smoking, calcium, vitamin D intake, and physical exercise, were unavailable. Another limitation of our study on bone markers is that due to the small number of patients undergoing blood tests at the predefined interval, analysis past 6 months of treatment was impossible. Although the follow-up was short in our study, Rogers et al. have shown earlier that the rate of bone loss is most rapid in the early menopausal period ¹⁹³. Furthermore, studies of women with endometriosis have shown high bone turnover after only 3 to 6 months of goserelin treatment, followed by a decline in BMD^{194, 195}. A variety of earlier studies of HRT-treated postmenopausal women have similarly shown that a decrease in bone turnover markers within 6 months correlates significantly with an increase in BMD after 1-2 years ^{134-136, 154}. The 6 months of follow up presented here may therefore be adequate and give clear indications for evaluating therapy-induced bone loss. Endocrine-induced bone loss with subsequent risk of osteopenic fractures is among the side effects that can be prevented by early use of interventions. Several studies have shown the positive effect of bisphosphonate treatment, especially if used from the start of OA therapy ^{142, 143, 147, 152}.

In summary, goserelin is effective in reducing the risk of recurrence and improving survival in endocrine-responsive premenopausal breast cancer. These effects are not enhanced by the addition of tamoxifen, and there is a significant interaction between goserelin and tamoxifen. Quality of life is affected by goserelin, and its side effects are considerable, but they are manageable and, moreover, reversible. A meta-analysis from the Overview group has earlier suggested that younger women may benefit more than older premenopausal women from LHRH agonist treatment ⁸.

Our study indicates that there may be an additional subgroup of women besides the very young, i.e., those with strongly ER-positive tumours, who benefit more from goserelin treatment, whereas the effect of tamoxifen does not seem to be modified by ER content. A significant interaction indicates that the effect of goserelin depends on whether tamoxifen is given or not, and the effect of tamoxifen depends on whether goserelin is given or not. Our data support that there is no additional benefit from combination endocrine therapy in the premenopausal setting. Within the limitations of the exploratory approach and its limited power as a stand-alone trial, our results should be viewed mainly as hypothesis-generating, awaiting data from ongoing trials. Our study shows that the addition of LHRH agonist to goserelin alone may prevent permanent amenorrhea for some women receiving cytotoxic chemotherapy. Young breast cancer patients should therefore not only receive adequate information on possible long-term risks of chemotherapy therapy but should as well be considered for optional goserelin treatment when future fertility is strongly desired. Our studies on bone effects show that treatment with the LHRH agonist goserelin results in substantial decrease of BMD and higher bone turnover in breast cancer patients. Tamoxifen seems to neutralize the effect of goserelin in regard to BTM as well as BMD. Furthermore, our results show a clear association of changes in BTM and BMD after only 6 months of endocrine treatment. We therefore conclude that bone marker examinations may predict bone loss in therapy-induced OA. These markers, in addition to BMD, can be used to improve the identification of women at high risk for rapid bone loss and make early interventions possible.

6 CONCLUSIONS

I: Adjuvant tamoxifen, in combination with the LHRH agonist goserelin, is not superior to either tamoxifen alone or goserelin alone in regard to recurrence-free survival in premenopausal endocrine-responsive breast cancer. A significant interaction indicates that the effect of goserelin depends on whether tamoxifen is given or not, and the effect of tamoxifen is dependent on whether goserelin is given or not.

II: In our study, there is a trend towards greater efficacy of goserelin with increasing ER levels. A subgroup of women with strongly ER-positive tumours benefits more from goserelin treatment, whereas the benefit of tamoxifen does not seem to be dependent on ER content.

III: In our study, there is some evidence of goserelin's protective effect on ovarian function in CMF-treated women. This effect was not observed where tamoxifen was given in addition to goserelin treatment.

IV: Two years of ovarian ablation from goserelin treatment induces a significant reduction in bone mineral density, but there is partial recovery from the bone loss one year after stopped treatment.

V: The addition of tamoxifen partially counteracts the demineralising effects of goserelin.

VI: After six months of goserelin treatment, there is an increase in markers of both bone resorption and bone formation, whereas there is no change in bone turnover from tamoxifen alone or in combination with goserelin. In our study, there is an inverse correlation of changes in BMD and bone markers. In addition to BMD measurements, biochemical examinations of bone turnover markers may be useful for monitoring bone health, identifying women at risk for bone loss and making early interventions possible

7 FUTURE ASPECTS

In spite of extensive earlier research, there are still many unanswered questions and challenges remaining regarding estrogen effects and endocrine treatment. Regarding the Stockholm cohort of the ZIPP study, there are plans to further analyse frozen tumour material in search of possible predictive factors. Another research area is how the development of resistance to endocrine therapy in breast cancer can be prevented or reversed. Intracellular signalling pathways, such as the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)-Akt-mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), play a role in tumour progression in breast cancer. Ligand-independent receptor activation of the ER is regulated by a substrate of mTOR ^{196, 197}. Drugs targeted to inhibit these pathways in order to reverse resistance are in development, and some already have proven clinical benefit, such as the selective inhibitor of the (mTOR) drug everolimus¹⁹⁸. Src family tyrosine kinase inhibitors are also involved in several signalling pathways in breast cancer, such as ER and HER-2 under investigation ^{199, 200}. Drugs of this class, such as dasatinib, are being tested in ongoing trials among hormone receptor positive and HER-2 normal/positive patients. Among hypotheses tested in ongoing trials are endocrine therapy "drug holidays", designed to examine if endocrine resistance development can be prevented and efficacy increased. This concept may possibly impact long-term side effect profiles as well as compliance.

8 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my sincere gratitudes to everyone, colleagues, friends and family, who supported and encouraged me during the work on this thesis. My special thanks go to:

My supervisor, **Tommy Fornander**, for giving me the opportunity to work on this project, introducing me to research, for good tutoring and a superb guidance in the clinical management of breast cancer.

LarsErik Rutqvist, my co-supervisor and former head of the Department of Oncology, SÖS, an authority in breast cancer research, for profound skills, vast experience, great tutoring and for laying the foundations for the valuable research in the Stockholm studies.

Samuel Rotstein, my co-supervisor, for kindness and encouragement.

Jonas Bergh, for presenting ideas to my work, enthusiasm and support.

Hemming Johansson, for the excellent statistical work, expertice and patient guidance, when my stastistics mind has been out of sync.

All former and present members of the Stockholm Breast Cancer Group, for the ideas and collaboration that resulted in the Stockholm studies.

Ulla Glas, former head of the Department of Oncology SÖS, who recruited me to a short temporary job at SÖS, which lasted over a decade.

Ulla Johansson, and staff at the Stockholm Oncological Centre, for all the good service and registry related work in this study.

Sara Sjöberg-Margolin, my dear friend and former room-mate, for her ever so sharp mind and focus, for precious talks, trials and retribution throughout the SÖS years.

The doctoral group: **Ulla Goldman, Anna von Wachenfeldt, Reza Khoshnoud, Aina Johnson**, for the inspiring and productive dinners at Rival, encouragement and friendship.

Mariann Iiristo, head of the Breast Unit at Karolinska, for good leadership, warmth, humour and for creating good feeling at work.

Gerard Winblad and Elisabet Lidbrink, for clinical mentorship and being such role models for aspiring oncologists.

Ingveldur Birna Björnsdóttir, my dear collegue and friend, kindness and unselfish helpfulness as well as sharing enjoyment of great food, drink and life.

The nursing staff at at the breast units at Karolinska-, Danderyd-, Huddinge- and Söder Hospitals, contributing to the logistics of the trial, coordinating patients visits and examinations. In special: **Berit Kummetz, Cecelia Arewald** and **Madelen Palm**, for their excellent work with the patients in these studies, as well as **Charlotte Edgarsson** for the collaboration throughout the years, in lymphoma and breast cancer.

Christofer Lagerros for invaluable IT expertise, good-will and helpfulness. The staff at the Department of Radiology, Karolinska University Hospital, for conducting bone mineral examinations.

Helgi Sigurdsson, for recruiting me to Iceland, giving me the possibility of continuing my research and **Vilhelmína Haraldsdóttir**, director of Internal Medicine at Landspitali, for supporing my research.

Halla Skúladottir, head of the Department of Oncology Landspitali, for good leadership, support, understanding and for creating fine atmosphere at work.

Agnes Smáradóttir, my room-mate at Landspitali, always cool, calm and collected, making life so much easier.

All former and present collaborating collegues in Oncology, Landspitali, specially in the "breast group": Jakob Jóhannsson, Óskar Jóhannsson, Thorvaldur Jónsson,

Kristján Skúli Ásgeirsson and **Höskuldur Kristvinsson.** Also in the "genito-urinary group": **Jón Hrafnkelsson, Gunnar Ragnarsson**, **Eiríkur Jónsson** and collegues at the Department of Urology, for introducing me to LHRH-a use in male patients, as well as for scientific and clinical team work.

All staff at the Department of Oncology, Landspitali, including my team nurses **Ásdís**, **Harpa, Hjördís, Hrefna, Kristjana** and **Thóra** for good skills, excellent patient care and making my job so much lighter. Special thanks to secretaries **Nína** and **Halldóra** for support, flexibility and good temper at all times.

Nanna Sigurdardóttir and Kristín Alexíusardóttir, at the "Oncology Centre", for cheering me forwards with valuable ideas, fertile discussion, fun, food and friendship. Gudmundur Arason, gynecologist and fertility specialist, for discussions on infertility and the latest news in fertility techniques, and together with his wife Margrét, great friendship on and off the golf course.

Bjarni Agnarsson, for assistance in selection of histopathological sample pictures.

Daniel Teague, for linguistic advice and proof reading.

Jóhanna Erla Jóhannesdottir, for excellent assistance with graphics and layout.

Helgi Rúnar Óskarsson, for presentation coaching skills, daring me to raise the bar and think beyond my comfort zone.

Tutors and fellow students in the doctoral school for clinicians in epidemiology at Karolinska Institutet for an excellent and challenging experience.

My collegue and sister **Anna Sverrisdóttir**, for manuscript reading, critisisms and linguistic advise.

Gudjón Hallgrímsson, **Hrafnhildur** and **Matti**, for great friendship and always being there when needed.

The family, in particular my mother **Dóra**, the main force behind my education, my sister **Hallfridur** and her husband **Axel**, my brother **Bergthor** and his wife **Hildur** for your love and support.

Steinn, my partner in life and our beloved sons, **Hákon**, **Sverrir** and **Axel**, for your love, giving me perspective in life and keeping my feet on the ground.

This work was supported by grants from the Swedish Cancer Society and King Gustav V Jubilee Fund, the Swedish Research Fund, Stockholm County Council Research Funds (ALF/FoU), The Stockholm Cancer Society, The Swedish Breast Cancer Association (BRO), Karolinska Instituet, Stockholm County Council Research Strategy Initiative and Märit and Hans Rausing's Initiative Against Breast Cancer, as well as a grant from Astra Zeneca for bone marker assays.

Finally, thanks to all patients who participated in this study,
9 REFERENCES

1. Storm HH, Engholm G, Hakulinen T, et al. Survival of patients diagnosed with cancer in the Nordic countries up to 1999-2003 followed to the end of 2006. A critical overview of the results. Acta Oncol 2010; 49(5): 532-44.

2. Socialstyrelsen. Cancer Incidence in Sweden 2010. Sweden, 2011.

3. Albain KS, Barlow WE, Ravdin PM, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy and timing of tamoxifen in postmenopausal patients with endocrine-responsive, node-positive breast cancer: a phase 3, open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2009; 374(9707): 2055-63.

4. Albain KS, Allred DC, Clark GM. Breast cancer outcome and predictors of outcome: are there age differentials? J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 1994(16): 35-42.

 Adami HO, Malker B, Holmberg L, Persson I, Stone B. The relation between survival and age at diagnosis in breast cancer. N Engl J Med 1986; 315(9): 559-63.
 Chung M, Chang HR, Bland KI, Wanebo HJ. Younger women with breast carcinoma have a poorer prognosis than older women. Cancer 1996; 77(1): 97-103.
 Fredholm H, Eaker S, Frisell J, Holmberg L, Fredriksson I, Lindman H. Breast cancer in young women: poor survival despite intensive treatment. PLoS One 2009; 4(11): e7695.

8. Cuzick J, Ambroisine L, Davidson N, et al. Use of luteinising-hormone-releasing hormone agonists as adjuvant treatment in premenopausal patients with hormone-receptor-positive breast cancer: a meta-analysis of individual patient data from randomised adjuvant trials. Lancet 2007; 369(9574): 1711-23.

 Goel S, Sharma R, Hamilton A, Beith J. LHRH agonists for adjuvant therapy of early breast cancer in premenopausal women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2009(4): CD004562. 10. EBCTCG. Effects of chemotherapy and hormonal therapy for early breast cancer on recurrence and 15-year survival: an overview of the randomised trials. Lancet 2005; 365(9472): 1687-717.

 Goldhirsch A, Castiglione M, Gelber RD. Adjuvant chemo-endocrine therapy in postmenopausal women with breast cancer and axillary-node metastases. Lancet 1990; 335(8697): 1099-100.

12. Goldhirsch A, Wood WC, Coates AS, et al. Strategies for subtypes--dealing with the diversity of breast cancer: highlights of the St. Gallen International ExpertConsensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2011. Ann Oncol 2011;22(8): 1736-47.

13. Goldhirsch A, Wood WC, Gelber RD, et al. Progress and promise: highlights of the international expert consensus on the primary therapy of early breast cancer 2007. Ann Oncol 2007; 18(7): 1133-44.

14. Goldhirsch A, Ingle JN, Gelber RD, et al. Thresholds for therapies: highlights of the St Gallen International Expert Consensus on the primary therapy of early breast cancer 2009. Ann Oncol 2009; 20(8): 1319-29.

15. Gelber RD, Cole BF, Goldhirsch A, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy plus tamoxifen compared with tamoxifen alone for postmenopausal breast cancer: meta-analysis of quality-adjusted survival. Lancet 1996; 347(9008): 1066-71.

16. EBCTCG. Effects of chemotherapy and hormonal therapy for early breast cancer on recurrence and 15-year survival: an overview of the randomised trials. Lancet 2005; 365(9472): 1687-717.

17. Peto R, Davies C, Godwin J, et al. Comparisons between different
polychemotherapy regimens for early breast cancer: meta-analyses of long-term
outcome among 100,000 women in 123 randomised trials. Lancet 2012; 379(9814):
432-44.

18. Veronesi U, Rossi A, Bonadonna G. Adjuvant combination chemotherapy with CMF in primary mammary carcinoma. World J Surg 1977; 1(3): 337-40.

19. Karlsson P, Cole BF, Colleoni M, et al. Timing of radiotherapy and outcome in patients receiving adjuvant endocrine therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011; 80(2): 398-402.

20. Darby S, McGale P, Correa C, et al. Effect of radiotherapy after breast-conserving surgery on 10-year recurrence and 15-year breast cancer death: meta-analysis of individual patient data for 10,801 women in 17 randomised trials. Lancet 2011; 378(9804): 1707-16.

 Jensen EV, Block GE, Smith S, Kyser K, DeSombre ER. Estrogen receptors and breast cancer response to adrenalectomy. Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 1971; 34: 55-70.
 Allred DC, Carlson RW, Berry DA, et al. NCCN Task Force Report: Estrogen Receptor and Progesterone Receptor Testing in Breast Cancer by Immunohistochemistry. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2009; 7 Suppl 6: S1-S21; quiz S2-3.
 Talman ML, Rasmussen BB, Andersen J, Christensen IJ. Estrogen Receptor analyses in the Danish Breast Cancer Cooperative Group. History, methods, prognosis and clinical implications. Acta Oncol 2008; 47(4): 789-94.

24. Pujol P, Daures JP, Thezenas S, Guilleux F, Rouanet P, Grenier J. Changing estrogen and progesterone receptor patterns in breast carcinoma during the menstrual cycle and menopause. Cancer 1998; 83(4): 698-705.

25. Williams C, Brunskill S, Altman D, et al. Cost-effectiveness of using prognostic information to select women with breast cancer for adjuvant systemic therapy. Health Technol Assess 2006; 10(34): iii-iv, ix-xi, 1-204.

26. McGuire WL. Current status of estrogen receptors in human breast cancer. Cancer 1975; 36(2): 638-44.

61

27. Viale G, Regan MM, Maiorano E, et al. Prognostic and predictive value of centrally reviewed expression of estrogen and progesterone receptors in a randomized trial comparing letrozole and tamoxifen adjuvant therapy for postmenopausal early breast cancer: BIG 1-98. J Clin Oncol 2007; 25(25): 3846-52.

28. Burton K. A study of the conditions and mechanism of the diphenylamine reaction for the colorimetric estimation of deoxyribonucleic acid. Biochem J 1956; 62(2): 315-23.

29. Hammond ME, Hayes DF, Wolff AC, Mangu PB, Temin S. American society of clinical oncology/college of american pathologists guideline recommendations for immunohistochemical testing of estrogen and progesterone receptors in breast cancer. J Oncol Pract 2010; 6(4): 195-7.

30. Khoshnoud MR, Löfdahl B, Fohlin H, et al. Immunohistochemistry compared to cytosol assays for determination of estrogen receptor and prediction of the long-term effect of adjuvant tamoxifen. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2011; 126(2): 421-30.

31. Harvey JM, Clark GM, Osborne CK, Allred DC. Estrogen receptor status by immunohistochemistry is superior to the ligand-binding assay for predicting response to adjuvant endocrine therapy in breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 1999; 17(5): 1474-81.

32. Regan MM, Viale G, Mastropasqua MG, et al. Re-evaluating adjuvant breast cancer trials: assessing hormone receptor status by immunohistochemical versus extraction assays. J Natl Cancer Inst 2006; 98(21): 1571-81.

33. Vollmer G, Gerdes J, Knuppen R. Quantification of estrogen- and progesterone receptors from cryostat sectioned human tumor tissue: comparison of ligand binding and immunocytochemical assays. J Steroid Biochem 1989; 33(1): 41-7.

34. Laenkholm AV, Knoop A, Ejlertsen B, et al. ESR1 gene status correlates with estrogen receptor protein levels measured by ligand binding assay and immunohistochemistry. Mol Oncol 2012; 6(4): 428-36.

35. Beatson, George. On the treatment of inoperable cases of carcinoma of the mamma: suggestion of a new method of treatment with illustrative cases. Lancet 1896; ii: 104-7.
36. Jensen E. On the mechanism of estrogen action. Perspect Biol Med 1962; 6: 47-59.
37. McGuire WL. Estrogen receptors in human breast cancer. J Clin Invest 1973; 52(1): 73-7.

38. Ovarian ablation in early breast cancer: overview of the randomised trials. EarlyBreast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group. Lancet 1996; 348(9036): 1189-96.

39. Furr BJ, Jordan VC. The pharmacology and clinical uses of tamoxifen. Pharmacol Ther 1984; 25(2): 127-205.

40. Jordan VC. Biochemical pharmacology of antiestrogen action. Pharmacol Rev 1984; 36(4): 245-76.

41. Binart N, Catelli MG, Geynet C, et al. Monohydroxytamoxifen: an antioestrogen with high affinity for the chick oviduct oestrogen receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1979; 91(3): 812-8.

42. Tajima C, Maeyama M. [The clinical application of tamoxifen (author's transl)].Nihon Funin Gakkai Zasshi 1979; 24(2): 141-9.

43. Clark JH, Peck EJ. Female sex steroids: receptors and function. Monogr Endocrinol 1979; 14: I-XII, 1-245.

44. Davies C, Godwin J, Gray R, et al. Relevance of breast cancer hormone receptors and other factors to the efficacy of adjuvant tamoxifen: patient-level meta-analysis of randomised trials. Lancet 2011; 378(9793): 771-84.

45. Fisher B, Costantino JP, Wickerham DL, et al. Tamoxifen for prevention of breast cancer: report of the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project P-1 Study. J Natl Cancer Inst 1998; 90(18): 1371-88.

46. Fornander T, Rutqvist LE. Adjuvant tamoxifen and second cancers. Lancet 1989;1(8638): 616.

47. Fornander T, Rutqvist LE, Sjöberg HE, Blomqvist L, Mattsson A, Glas U. Longterm adjuvant tamoxifen in early breast cancer: effect on bone mineral density in postmenopausal women. J Clin Oncol 1990; 8(6): 1019-24.

48. Fornander T, Rutqvist LE, Wilking N, Carlström K, von Schoultz B. Oestrogenic effects of adjuvant tamoxifen in postmenopausal breast cancer. Eur J Cancer 1993;
29A(4): 497-500.

49. Fornander T, Rutqvist LE, Wilking N. Effects of tamoxifen on the female genital tract. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1991; 622: 469-76.

50. Löfgren L, Wallberg B, Wilking N, et al. Tamoxifen and megestrol acetate for postmenopausal breast cancer: diverging effects on liver proteins, androgens, and glucocorticoids. Med Oncol 2004; 21(4): 309-18.

51. Nystedt M, Berglund G, Bolund C, Fornander T, Rutqvist LE. Side effects of adjuvant endocrine treatment in premenopausal breast cancer patients: a prospective randomized study. J Clin Oncol 2003; 21(9): 1836-44.

52. Sverrisdóttir A, Fornander T, Jacobsson H, von Schoultz E, Rutqvist LE. Bone mineral density among premenopausal women with early breast cancer in a randomized trial of adjuvant endocrine therapy. J Clin Oncol 2004; 22(18): 3694-9.

53. Powles TJ, Hickish T, Kanis JA, Tidy A, Ashley S. Effect of tamoxifen on bone mineral density measured by dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry in healthy premenopausal and postmenopausal women. J Clin Oncol 1996; 14(1): 78-84.

54. Love RR, Mazess RB, Tormey DC, Barden HS, Newcomb PA, Jordan VC. Bone mineral density in women with breast cancer treated with adjuvant tamoxifen for at least two years. Breast Cancer Res Treat 1988; 12(3): 297-302.

55. Stearns V, Rae JM. Pharmacogenetics and breast cancer endocrine therapy: CYP2D6 as a predictive factor for tamoxifen metabolism and drug response? Expert Rev Mol Med 2008; 10: e34. 56. Jin Y, Desta Z, Stearns V, et al. CYP2D6 genotype, antidepressant use, and tamoxifen metabolism during adjuvant breast cancer treatment. J Natl Cancer Inst 2005; 97(1): 30-9.

57. Fukushima T, Tajima C, Fukuma K, Maeyama M. Tamoxifen in the treatment of infertility associated with luteal phase deficiency. Fertil Steril 1982; 37(6): 755-61.
58. Jordan VC, Fritz NF, Tormey DC. Long-term adjuvant therapy with tamoxifen: effects on sex hormone binding globulin and antithrombin III. Cancer Res 1987; 47(16): 4517-9.

59. Patterson JS. Clinical aspects and development of antioestrogen therapy: a review of the endocrine effects of tamoxifen in animals and man. J Endocrinol 1981; 89 Suppl: 67P-75P.

60. Cole MP, Jones CT, Todd ID. A new anti-oestrogenic agent in late breast cancer. An early clinical appraisal of ICI46474. Br J Cancer 1971; 25(2): 270-5.

61. Andersen J, Kamby C, Ejlertsen B, et al. Tamoxifen for one year versus two years versus 6 months of Tamoxifen and 6 months of megestrol acetate: a randomized comparison in postmenopausal patients with high-risk breast cancer (DBCG 89C). Acta Oncol 2008; 47(4): 718-24.

62. Rutqvist LE, Johansson H, Group SBCS. Long-term follow-up of the randomized Stockholm trial on adjuvant tamoxifen among postmenopausal patients with early stage breast cancer. Acta Oncol 2007; 46(2): 133-45.

63. Fisher B, Brown A, Wolmark N, et al. Prolonging tamoxifen therapy for primary breast cancer. Findings from the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project clinical trial. Ann Intern Med 1987; 106(5): 649-54.

64. Fisher B, Dignam J, Bryant J, Wolmark N. Five versus more than five years of tamoxifen for lymph node-negative breast cancer: updated findings from the National

Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project B-14 randomized trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 2001; 93(9): 684-90.

65. Cuzick J, Powles T, Veronesi U, et al. Overview of the main outcomes in breastcancer prevention trials. Lancet 2003; 361(9354): 296-300.

66. Visvanathan K, Chlebowski RT, Hurley P, et al. American society of clinical oncology clinical practice guideline update on the use of pharmacologic interventions including tamoxifen, raloxifene, and aromatase inhibition for breast cancer risk reduction. J Clin Oncol 2009; 27(19): 3235-58.

67 Goss PE, Ingle JN, Pater JL, et al. Late extended adjuvant treatment with letrozole improves outcome in women with early-stage breast cancer who complete 5 years of tamoxifen. J Clin Oncol 2008; 26(12): 1948-55.

68. Chia SK, Wolff AC. With maturity comes confidence: EBCTCG tamoxifen update. Lancet 2011; 378(9793): 747-9.

69. Gnant M, Mlineritsch B, Luschin-Ebengreuth G, et al. Adjuvant endocrine therapy plus zoledronic acid in premenopausal women with early-stage breast cancer: 5-year follow-up of the ABCSG-12 bone-mineral density substudy. Lancet Oncol 2008; 9(9): 840-9.

70. Group EBCTC. Ovarian ablation for early breast cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2000(3): CD000485.

71. Sandow J, Rechenberg WV, Jerzabek G. The effect of LH-RH, prostaglandins and synthetic analogues of LH-RH on ovarian metabolism. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 1976; 6(4): 185-90.

72. Harvey HA, Lipton A, Max DT, Pearlman HG, Diaz-Perches R, de la Garza J. Medical castration produced by the GnRH analogue leuprolide to treat metastatic breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 1985; 3(8): 1068-72. 73. Sandow J. Clinical applications of LHRH and its analogues. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)1983; 18(6): 571-92.

74. Jonat W, Kaufmann M, Sauerbrei W, et al. Goserelin versus cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and fluorouracil as adjuvant therapy in premenopausal patients with node-positive breast cancer: The Zoladex Early Breast Cancer Research Association Study. J Clin Oncol 2002; 20(24): 4628-35.

75. Jakesz R, Hausmaninger H, Kubista E, et al. Randomized adjuvant trial of tamoxifen and goserelin versus cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and fluorouracil: evidence for the superiority of treatment with endocrine blockade in premenopausal patients with hormone-responsive breast cancer--Austrian Breast and Colorectal Cancer Study Group Trial 5. J Clin Oncol 2002; 20(24): 4621-7.

76. Castiglione-Gertsch M, O'Neill A, Price KN, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy
followed by goserelin versus either modality alone for premenopausal lymph nodenegative breast cancer: a randomized trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 2003; 95(24): 1833-46.
77. Baum M, Hackshaw A, Houghton J, et al. Adjuvant goserelin in pre-menopausal
patients with early breast cancer: Results from the ZIPP study. Eur J Cancer 2006;
42(7): 895-904.

78. Kaufmann M, Graf E, Jonat W, et al. A randomised trial of goserelin versus control after adjuvant, risk-adapted chemotherapy in premenopausal patients with primary breast cancer - GABG-IV B-93. Eur J Cancer 2007; 43(16): 2351-8.

79. Boccardo F, Rubagotti A, Amoroso D, et al. Cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and fluorouracil versus tamoxifen plus ovarian suppression as adjuvant treatment of estrogen receptor-positive pre-/perimenopausal breast cancer patients: results of the Italian Breast Cancer Adjuvant Study Group 02 randomized trial. boccardo@hp380.ist.unige.it. J Clin Oncol 2000; 18(14): 2718-27.

80. Love RR, Cameron L, Connell BL, Leventhal H. Symptoms associated with tamoxifen treatment in postmenopausal women. Arch Intern Med 1991; 151(9): 1842-7.

81. Day R, Ganz PA, Costantino JP, Cronin WM, Wickerham DL, Fisher B. Healthrelated quality of life and tamoxifen in breast cancer prevention: a report from the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project P-1 Study. J Clin Oncol 1999; 17(9): 2659-69.

82. Powles TJ, Ashley S, Tidy A, Smith IE, Dowsett M. Twenty-year follow-up of the Royal Marsden randomized, double-blinded tamoxifen breast cancer prevention trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 2007; 99(4): 283-90.

83. Fisher B, Costantino JP, Wickerham DL, et al. Tamoxifen for the prevention of breast cancer: current status of the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project P-1 study. J Natl Cancer Inst 2005; 97(22): 1652-62.

84. Nordenskjöld B, Rosell J, Rutqvist LE, et al. Coronary heart disease mortality after 5 years of adjuvant tamoxifen therapy: results from a randomized trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 2005; 97(21): 1609-10.

85. Berglund G, Nystedt M, Bolund C, Sjödén PO, Rutquist LE. Effect of endocrine treatment on sexuality in premenopausal breast cancer patients: a prospective randomized study. J Clin Oncol 2001; 19(11): 2788-96.

86. Nystedt M, Berglund G, Bolund C, Brandberg Y, Fornander T, Rutqvist LE.
Randomized trial of adjuvant tamoxifen and/or goserelin in premenopausal breast
cancer--self-rated physiological effects and symptoms. Acta Oncol 2000; 39(8): 95968.

87. Bines J, Oleske DM, Cobleigh MA. Ovarian function in premenopausal women
treated with adjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 1996; 14(5): 171829.

88. Meirow D, Nugent D. The effects of radiotherapy and chemotherapy on female reproduction. Hum Reprod Update 2001; 7(6): 535-43.

89. Swain SM, Jeong JH, Geyer CE, et al. Longer therapy, iatrogenic amenorrhea, and survival in early breast cancer. N Engl J Med 2010; 362(22): 2053-65.

90. Fornier MN, Modi S, Panageas KS, Norton L, Hudis C. Incidence of chemotherapy-induced, long-term amenorrhea in patients with breast carcinoma age 40 years and younger after adjuvant anthracycline and taxane. Cancer 2005; 104(8): 1575-9.

91. Davidson NE, O'Neill AM, Vukov AM, et al. Chemoendocrine therapy for premenopausal women with axillary lymph node-positive, steroid hormone receptorpositive breast cancer: results from INT 0101 (E5188). J Clin Oncol 2005; 23(25): 5973-82.

92. Chapman RM, Sutcliffe SB, Malpas JS. Cytotoxic-induced ovarian failure in women with Hodgkin's disease. I. Hormone function. JAMA 1979; 242(17): 1877-81.
93. Oktay K, Buyuk E. Fertility preservation in women undergoing cancer treatment. Lancet 2004; 363(9423): 1830.

94. Citron ML, Berry DA, Cirrincione C, et al. Randomized trial of dose-dense versus conventionally scheduled and sequential versus concurrent combination chemotherapy as postoperative adjuvant treatment of node-positive primary breast cancer: first report of Intergroup Trial C9741/Cancer and Leukemia Group B Trial 9741. J Clin Oncol 2003; 21(8): 1431-9.

95. Padmanabhan N, Rubens RD, Howell A. Adjuvant chemotherapy in early breast cancer. Lancet 1986; 2(8519): 1333-4.

96. Behringer K, Breuer K, Reineke T, et al. Secondary amenorrhea after Hodgkin's lymphoma is influenced by age at treatment, stage of disease, chemotherapy regimen,

and the use of oral contraceptives during therapy: a report from the German Hodgkin's Lymphoma Study Group. J Clin Oncol 2005; 23(30): 7555-64.

97. Goodwin PJ, Ennis M, Pritchard KI, Trudeau M, Hood N. Risk of menopause during the first year after breast cancer diagnosis. J Clin Oncol 1999; 17(8): 2365-70.
98. Chapman RM, Sutcliffe SB, Malpas JS. Cytotoxic-induced ovarian failure in Hodgkin's disease. II. Effects on sexual function. JAMA 1979; 242(17): 1882-4.
99. Anderson RA, Themmen AP, Al-Qahtani A, Groome NP, Cameron DA. The effects of chemotherapy and long-term gonadotrophin suppression on the ovarian reserve in premenopausal women with breast cancer. Hum Reprod 2006; 21(10): 2583-92.

100. Bath LE, Wallace WH, Shaw MP, Fitzpatrick C, Anderson RA. Depletion of ovarian reserve in young women after treatment for cancer in childhood: detection by anti-Müllerian hormone, inhibin B and ovarian ultrasound. Hum Reprod 2003; 18(11): 2368-74.

101. Partridge AH, Ruddy KJ, Gelber S, et al. Ovarian reserve in women who remain premenopausal after chemotherapy for early stage breast cancer. Fertil Steril 2010; 94(2): 638-44.

102. Goldhirsch A, Gelber RD, Castiglione M. The magnitude of endocrine effects of adjuvant chemotherapy for premenopausal breast cancer patients. The International Breast Cancer Study Group. Ann Oncol 1990; 1(3): 183-8.

103. Bonadonna G, Moliterni A, Zambetti M, et al. 30 years' follow up of randomised studies of adjuvant CMF in operable breast cancer: cohort study. BMJ 2005;330(7485): 217.

104. Martin M, Pienkowski T, Mackey J, et al. Adjuvant docetaxel for node-positive breast cancer. N Engl J Med 2005; 352(22): 2302-13.

105. Petrek JA, Naughton MJ, Case LD, et al. Incidence, time course, and determinants of menstrual bleeding after breast cancer treatment: a prospective study. J Clin Oncol 2006; 24(7): 1045-51.

106. Levine MN, Bramwell VH, Pritchard KI, et al. Randomized trial of intensive cyclophosphamide, epirubicin, and fluorouracil chemotherapy compared with cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and fluorouracil in premenopausal women with node-positive breast cancer. National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group. J Clin Oncol 1998; 16(8): 2651-8.

107. Zambetti M, Bonadonna G, Valagussa P, et al. Adjuvant CMF for node-negative and estrogen receptor-negative breast cancer patients. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 1992(11): 77-83.

108. Venturini M, Del Mastro L, Aitini E, et al. Dose-dense adjuvant chemotherapy in early breast cancer patients: results from a randomized trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 2005; 97(23): 1724-33.

109. Tham YL, Sexton K, Weiss H, Elledge R, Friedman LC, Kramer R. The rates of chemotherapy-induced amenorrhea in patients treated with adjuvant doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide followed by a taxane. Am J Clin Oncol 2007; 30(2): 126-32.
110. von Schoultz E, Johansson H, Wilking N, Rutqvist LE. Influence of prior and subsequent pregnancy on breast cancer prognosis. J Clin Oncol 1995; 13(2): 430-4.
111. Ives A, Saunders C, Bulsara M, Semmens J. Pregnancy after breast cancer: population based study. BMJ 2007; 334(7586): 194.

112. Kroman N, Jensen MB, Wohlfahrt J, Ejlertsen B, Group DBCC. Pregnancy after treatment of breast cancer--a population-based study on behalf of Danish Breast Cancer Cooperative Group. Acta Oncol 2008; 47(4): 545-9.

71

113. Pentheroudakis G, Orecchia R, Hoekstra HJ, Pavlidis N, Group EGW. Cancer, fertility and pregnancy: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2010; 21 Suppl 5: v266-73.

114. Lee SJ, Schover LR, Partridge AH, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology recommendations on fertility preservation in cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 2006; 24(18): 2917-31.

115. Blumenfeld Z, Avivi I, Ritter M, Rowe JM. Preservation of fertility and ovarian function and minimizing chemotherapy-induced gonadotoxicity in young women. J Soc Gynecol Investig 1999; 6(5): 229-39.

116. Blumenfeld Z, Haim N. Prevention of gonadal damage during cytotoxic therapy.Ann Med 1997; 29(3): 199-206.

117. Meirow D, Assad G, Dor J, Rabinovici J. The GnRH antagonist cetrorelix reduces cyclophosphamide-induced ovarian follicular destruction in mice. Hum Reprod 2004; 19(6): 1294-9.

118. Blumenfeld Z. How to preserve fertility in young women exposed to chemotherapy? The role of GnRH agonist cotreatment in addition to cryopreservation of embrya, oocytes, or ovaries. Oncologist 2007; 12(9): 1044-54.

119. Nitzschke M, Raddatz J, Bohlmann MK, Stute P, Strowitzki T, von Wolff M. GnRH analogs do not protect ovaries from chemotherapy-induced ultrastructural injury in Hodgkin's lymphoma patients. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2010; 282(1): 83-8.

120. Bedaiwy MA, Abou-Setta AM, Desai N, et al. Gonadotropin-releasing hormone analog cotreatment for preservation of ovarian function during gonadotoxic chemotherapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Fertil Steril 2011; 95(3): 906-

14.e1-4.

121. Sonmezer M, Oktay K. Fertility preservation in young women undergoing breast cancer therapy. Oncologist 2006; 11(5): 422-34.

122. Recchia F, Sica G, De Filippis S, Saggio G, Rosselli M, Rea S. Goserelin as ovarian protection in the adjuvant treatment of premenopausal breast cancer: a phase II pilot study. Anticancer Drugs 2002; 13(4): 417-24.

123. Del Mastro L, Boni L, Michelotti A, et al. Effect of the gonadotropin-releasing hormone analogue triptorelin on the occurrence of chemotherapy-induced early menopause in premenopausal women with breast cancer: a randomized trial. JAMA 2011; 306(3): 269-76.

124. Urruticoechea A, Arnedos M, Walsh G, Dowsett M, Smith IE. Ovarian protection with goserelin during adjuvant chemotherapy for pre-menopausal women with early breast cancer (EBC). Breast Cancer Res Treat 2008; 110(3): 411-6.

125. Munster PN, Moore AP, Ismail-Khan R, et al. Randomized trial using gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist triptorelin for the preservation of ovarian function during (neo)adjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 2012; 30(5): 533-8.

126. Gerber B, von Minckwitz G, Stehle H, et al. Effect of luteinizing hormonereleasing hormone agonist on ovarian function after modern adjuvant breast cancer chemotherapy: the GBG 37 ZORO study. J Clin Oncol 2011; 29(17): 2334-41.
127. Badawy A, Elnashar A, El-Ashry M, Shahat M. Gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonists for prevention of chemotherapy-induced ovarian damage: prospective

randomized study. Fertil Steril 2009; 91(3): 694-7.

128. Oktay K, Sönmezer M, Oktem O, Fox K, Emons G, Bang H. Absence of conclusive evidence for the safety and efficacy of gonadotropin-releasing hormone analogue treatment in protecting against chemotherapy-induced gonadal injury. Oncologist 2007; 12(9): 1055-66.

73

129. Hofbauer LC, Khosla S, Dunstan CR, Lacey DL, Spelsberg TC, Riggs BL. Estrogen stimulates gene expression and protein production of osteoprotegerin in human osteoblastic cells. Endocrinology 1999; 140(9): 4367-70.

130. Kameda T, Mano H, Yuasa T, et al. Estrogen inhibits bone resorption by directly inducing apoptosis of the bone-resorbing osteoclasts. J Exp Med 1997; 186(4): 489-95.
131. Riggs BL, Khosla S, Melton LJ. A unitary model for involutional osteoporosis: estrogen deficiency causes both type I and type II osteoporosis in postmenopausal women and contributes to bone loss in aging men. J Bone Miner Res 1998; 13(5): 763-73.

132. Hansen MA, Overgaard K, Riis BJ, Christiansen C. Role of peak bone mass and bone loss in postmenopausal osteoporosis: 12 year study. BMJ 1991; 303(6808): 961-4.
133. NIH Consensus Development Panel on Osteoporosis Prevention Da, and Therapy. Osteoporosis prevention, diagnosis, and therapy. JAMA 2001; 285(6): 785-95.

134. Delmas PD, Hardy P, Garnero P, Dain M. Monitoring individual response to hormone replacement therapy with bone markers. Bone 2000; 26(6): 553-60.

135. Riis BJ, Overgaard K, Christiansen C. Biochemical markers of bone turnover to monitor the bone response to postmenopausal hormone replacement therapy.

Osteoporos Int 1995; 5(4): 276-80.

136. Rosen CJ, Chesnut CH, Mallinak NJ. The predictive value of biochemical markers of bone turnover for bone mineral density in early postmenopausal women treated with hormone replacement or calcium supplementation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1997; 82(6): 1904-10.

137. Christiansen C, Riis BJ, Rødbro P. Prediction of rapid bone loss in postmenopausal women. Lancet 1987; 1(8542): 1105-8.

138. Riis BJ, Hansen MA, Jensen AM, Overgaard K, Christiansen C. Low bone mass and fast rate of bone loss at menopause: equal risk factors for future fracture: a 15-year follow-up study. Bone 1996; 19(1): 9-12.

139. Reid DM, Doughty J, Eastell R, et al. Guidance for the management of breast cancer treatment-induced bone loss: a consensus position statement from a UK Expert Group. Cancer Treat Rev 2008; 34 Suppl 1: S3-18.

140. Gralow JR, Biermann JS, Farooki A, et al. NCCN Task Force Report: Bone
Health in Cancer Care. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2009; 7 Suppl 3: S1-32; quiz S3-5.
141. Delmas PD, Balena R, Confravreux E, Hardouin C, Hardy P, Bremond A.
Bisphosphonate risedronate prevents bone loss in women with artificial menopause due
to chemotherapy of breast cancer: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. J Clin
Oncol 1997; 15(3): 955-62.

142. Saarto T, Blomqvist C, Välimäki M, Mäkelä P, Sarna S, Elomaa I. Chemical castration induced by adjuvant cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and fluorouracil chemotherapy causes rapid bone loss that is reduced by clodronate: a randomized study in premenopausal breast cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 1997; 15(4): 1341-7.

143. Gnant M, Mlineritsch B, Schippinger W, et al. Endocrine therapy plus zoledronic acid in premenopausal breast cancer. N Engl J Med 2009; 360(7): 679-91.

144. Kristensen B, Ejlertsen B, Mouridsen HT, et al. Bisphosphonate treatment in primary breast cancer: results from a randomised comparison of oral pamidronate versus no pamidronate in patients with primary breast cancer. Acta Oncol 2008; 47(4): 740-6.

145. Bruning PF, Pit MJ, de Jong-Bakker M, van den Ende A, Hart A, van Enk A.Bone mineral density after adjuvant chemotherapy for premenopausal breast cancer. BrJ Cancer 1990; 61(2): 308-10.

146. Headley JA, Theriault RL, LeBlanc AD, Vassilopoulou-Sellin R, Hortobagyi GN. Pilot study of bone mineral density in breast cancer patients treated with adjuvant chemotherapy. Cancer Invest 1998; 16(1): 6-11.

147. Vehmanen L, Elomaa I, Blomqvist C, Saarto T. Tamoxifen treatment after adjuvant chemotherapy has opposite effects on bone mineral density in premenopausal patients depending on menstrual status. J Clin Oncol 2006; 24(4): 675-80.

148. Shapiro CL, Manola J, Leboff M. Ovarian failure after adjuvant chemotherapy is associated with rapid bone loss in women with early-stage breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 2001; 19(14): 3306-11.

149. Kristensen B, Ejlertsen B, Dalgaard P, et al. Tamoxifen and bone metabolism in postmenopausal low-risk breast cancer patients: a randomized study. J Clin Oncol 1994; 12(5): 992-7.

150. Baum M, Budzar AU, Cuzick J, et al. Anastrozole alone or in combination with tamoxifen versus tamoxifen alone for adjuvant treatment of postmenopausal women with early breast cancer: first results of the ATAC randomised trial. Lancet 2002; 359(9324): 2131-9.

151. Lønning PE, Geisler J, Krag LE, et al. Effects of exemestane administered for 2 years versus placebo on bone mineral density, bone biomarkers, and plasma lipids in patients with surgically resected early breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 2005; 23(22): 5126-37.

152. Powles TJ, McCloskey E, Paterson AH, et al. Oral clodronate and reduction in loss of bone mineral density in women with operable primary breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 1998; 90(9): 704-8.

153. Vehmanen L, Saarto T, Elomaa I, Mäkelä P, Välimäki M, Blomqvist C. Longterm impact of chemotherapy-induced ovarian failure on bone mineral density (BMD) in premenopausal breast cancer patients. The effect of adjuvant clodronate treatment. Eur J Cancer 2001; 37(18): 2373-8.

154. Bjarnason NH, Christiansen C. Early response in biochemical markers predicts long-term response in bone mass during hormone replacement therapy in early postmenopausal women. Bone 2000; 26(6): 561-9.

155. Eastell R, Robins SP, Colwell T, Assiri AM, Riggs BL, Russell RG. Evaluation of bone turnover in type I osteoporosis using biochemical markers specific for both bone formation and bone resorption. Osteoporos Int 1993; 3(5): 255-60.

156. Kanis JA, Johnell O, Oden A, De Laet C, Jonsson B, Dawson A. Ten-year risk of osteoporotic fracture and the effect of risk factors on screening strategies. Bone 2002; 30(1): 251-8.

157. Cummings SR, Nevitt MC, Browner WS, et al. Risk factors for hip fracture in white women. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. N Engl J Med 1995; 332(12): 767-73.

158. Allolio B. Risk factors for hip fracture not related to bone mass and their therapeutic implications. Osteoporos Int 1999; 9 Suppl 2: S9-S16.

159. Brown JE, Cook RJ, Major P, et al. Bone turnover markers as predictors of skeletal complications in prostate cancer, lung cancer, and other solid tumors. J Natl Cancer Inst 2005; 97(1): 59-69.

160. Hackshaw A, Baum M, Fornander T, et al. Long-term effectiveness of adjuvant goserelin in premenopausal women with early breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2009; 101(5): 341-9.

161. Johnsson A, Fornander T, Olsson M, Nystedt M, Johansson H, Rutqvist LE.Factors associated with return to work after breast cancer treatment. Acta Oncol 2007;46(1): 90-6.

162. Rutqvist LE, Cedermark B, Glas U, et al. The Stockholm trial on adjuvant tamoxifen in early breast cancer. Correlation between estrogen receptor level and treatment effect. Breast Cancer Res Treat 1987; 10(3): 255-66.

163. Berglund G, Bolund C, Fornander T, Rutqvist LE, Sjödén PO. Late effects of adjuvant chemotherapy and postoperative radiotherapy on quality of life among breast cancer patients. Eur J Cancer 1991; 27(9): 1075-81.

164. Cuzick J, Ambroisine L, Davidson N, et al. Use of luteinising-hormone-releasing hormone agonists as adjuvant treatment in premenopausal patients with hormone-receptor-positive breast cancer: a meta-analysis of individual patient data from randomised adjuvant trials. Lancet 2007; 369(9574): 1711-23.

165. Bergh J, Jönsson PE, Lidbrink EK, et al. FACT: an open-label randomized phase III study of fulvestrant and anastrozole in combination compared with anastrozole alone as first-line therapy for patients with receptor-positive postmenopausal breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 2012; 30(16): 1919-25.

166. Mouridsen H, Giobbie-Hurder A, Goldhirsch A, et al. Letrozole therapy alone or in sequence with tamoxifen in women with breast cancer. N Engl J Med 2009; 361(8): 766-76.

167. Fisher B, Redmond C, Brown A, et al. Influence of tumor estrogen and progesterone receptor levels on the response to tamoxifen and chemotherapy in primary breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 1983; 1(4): 227-41.

168. de Haes H, Olschewski M, Kaufmann M, et al. Quality of life in goserelin-treated versus cyclophosphamide + methotrexate + fluorouracil-treated premenopausal and perimenopausal patients with node-positive, early breast cancer: the Zoladex Early Breast Cancer Research Association Trialists Group. J Clin Oncol 2003; 21(24): 4510-6.

169. Gotay C, Dunn J. Adherence to long-term adjuvant hormonal therapy for breast cancer. Expert Rev Pharmacoecon Outcomes Res 2011; 11(6): 709-15.

170. Dezentjé VO, van Blijderveen NJ, Gelderblom H, et al. Effect of concomitant CYP2D6 inhibitor use and tamoxifen adherence on breast cancer recurrence in earlystage breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 2010; 28(14): 2423-9.

171. Albain KS, Barlow WE, Ravdin PM, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy and timing of tamoxifen in postmenopausal patients with endocrine-responsive, node-positive breast cancer: a phase 3, open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2009; 374(9707): 2055-63.

172. Chen H, Li J, Cui T, Hu L. Adjuvant gonadotropin-releasing hormone analogues for the prevention of chemotherapy induced premature ovarian failure in premenopausal women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2011(11): CD008018.

173. Blumenfeld Z, Dann E, Avivi I, Epelbaum R, Rowe JM. Fertility after treatment for Hodgkin's disease. Ann Oncol 2002; 13 Suppl 1: 138-47.

174. Walshe JM, Denduluri N, Swain SM. Amenorrhea in premenopausal women after adjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 2006; 24(36): 5769-79.

175. Robertson JF, Blamey RW. The use of gonadotrophin-releasing hormone (GnRH) agonists in early and advanced breast cancer in pre- and perimenopausal women. Eur J Cancer 2003; 39(7): 861-9.

176. Poikonen P, Saarto T, Elomaa I, Joensuu H, Blomqvist C. Prognostic effect of amenorrhoea and elevated serum gonadotropin levels induced by adjuvant chemotherapy in premenopausal node-positive breast cancer patients. Eur J Cancer 2000; 36(1): 43-8.

177. Rossi E, Morabito A, De Maio E, et al. Endocrine effects of adjuvant letrozole + triptorelin compared with tamoxifen + triptorelin in premenopausal patients with early breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 2008; 26(2): 264-70.

178. Osborne CK. Tamoxifen in the treatment of breast cancer. N Engl J Med 1998;339(22): 1609-18.

179. Kanis JA. Diagnosis of osteoporosis and assessment of fracture risk. Lancet 2002;359(9321): 1929-36.

180. Hernandez CJ, Beaupré GS, Carter DR. A theoretical analysis of the relative influences of peak BMD, age-related bone loss and menopause on the development of osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int 2003; 14(10): 843-7.

181. Geisler J, Lønning PE, Krag LE, et al. Changes in bone and lipid metabolism in postmenopausal women with early breast cancer after terminating 2-year treatment with exemestane: a randomised, placebo-controlled study. Eur J Cancer 2006; 42(17): 2968-75.

182. Coleman RE, Banks LM, Girgis SI, et al. Skeletal effects of exemestane on bonemineral density, bone biomarkers, and fracture incidence in postmenopausal women with early breast cancer participating in the Intergroup Exemestane Study (IES): a randomised controlled study. Lancet Oncol 2007; 8(2): 119-27.

183. Amir E, Seruga B, Niraula S, Carlsson L, Ocaña A. Toxicity of adjuvant endocrine therapy in postmenopausal breast cancer patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Natl Cancer Inst 2011; 103(17): 1299-309.

184. van Nes JG, Fontein DB, Hille ET, et al. Quality of life in relation to tamoxifen or exemestane treatment in postmenopausal breast cancer patients: a Tamoxifen
Exemestane Adjuvant Multinational (TEAM) Trial side study. Breast Cancer Res Treat
2012; 134(1): 267-76.

185. Cella D, Fallowfield L, Barker P, et al. Quality of life of postmenopausal women
in the ATAC ("Arimidex", tamoxifen, alone or in combination) trial after completion of
5 years' adjuvant treatment for early breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2006;
100(3): 273-84.

186. Jones SE, Cantrell J, Vukelja S, et al. Comparison of menopausal symptoms during the first year of adjuvant therapy with either exemestane or tamoxifen in early breast cancer: report of a Tamoxifen Exemestane Adjuvant Multicenter trial substudy. J Clin Oncol 2007; 25(30): 4765-71.

187. LeBlanc AD, Schneider VS, Engelbretson DA, Evans HJ. Precision of regional bone mineral measurements obtained from total-body scans. J Nucl Med 1990; 31(1): 43-5.

188. Nuti R, Martini G, Righi G, Frediani B, Turchetti V. Comparison of total-body measurements by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry and dual-photon absorptiometry. J Bone Miner Res 1991; 6(7): 681-7.

189. Abrahamsen B, Hansen TB, Jensen LB, Hermann AP, Eiken P. Site of osteodensitometry in perimenopausal women: correlation and limits of agreement between anatomic regions. J Bone Miner Res 1997; 12(9): 1471-9.

190. Blake GM, Fogelman I. Monitoring treatment for osteoporosis by using bone densitometry. Semin Nucl Med 2001; 31(3): 212-22.

191. Marshall D, Johnell O, Wedel H. Meta-analysis of how well measures of bone mineral density predict occurrence of osteoporotic fractures. BMJ 1996; 312(7041): 1254-9.

192. Vasikaran SD, Glendenning P, Morris HA. The role of biochemical markers of bone turnover in osteoporosis management in clinical practice. Clin Biochem Rev 2006; 27(3): 119-21.

193. Rogers A, Hannon RA, Eastell R. Biochemical markers as predictors of rates of bone loss after menopause. J Bone Miner Res 2000; 15(7): 1398-404.

194. Riggs BL, Melton LJ. Involutional osteoporosis. N Engl J Med 1986; 314(26):1676-86.

195. Sillem M, Parviz M, Woitge HW, et al. Add-back medrogestone does not prevent bone loss in premenopausal women treated with goserelin. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes 1999; 107(6): 379-85.

196. Yamnik RL, Holz MK. mTOR/S6K1 and MAPK/RSK signaling pathways coordinately regulate estrogen receptor alpha serine 167 phosphorylation. FEBS Lett 2010; 584(1): 124-8.

197. Yamnik RL, Digilova A, Davis DC, Brodt ZN, Murphy CJ, Holz MK. S6 kinase 1 regulates estrogen receptor alpha in control of breast cancer cell proliferation. J Biol Chem 2009; 284(10): 6361-9.

198. Baselga J, Campone M, Piccart M, et al. Everolimus in postmenopausal hormonereceptor-positive advanced breast cancer. N Engl J Med 2012; 366(6): 520-9.

199. Verbeek BS, Vroom TM, Adriaansen-Slot SS, et al. c-Src protein expression is increased in human breast cancer. An immunohistochemical and biochemical analysis. J Pathol 1996; 180(4): 383-8.

200. Mayer EL, Krop IE. Advances in targeting SRC in the treatment of breast cancer and other solid malignancies. Clin Cancer Res 2010; 16(14): 3526-32.